Annual Meeting of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
March 24, 2021 at 7:30 PM
515 North Ave. – City Council Conference Room, New Rochelle, New York 10801
Via Microsoft Teams
Pursuant to Governor Cuomo's Executive Order 202.1, the meeting will take place remotely via Microsoft
Teams, there will be no in-person meeting. The Meeting will take place via Microsoft Teams and can be
viewed on NRTV Optimum Ch. 75, Verizon Ch. 28 and on line at www.newrochelleny.com/livestream

AGENDA
1. Roll Call/Announcements
2. Minutes
3. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements- PKF O’Connor Davies
4. BRP 500 Main LLC – Update and Setting of Public Hearing
5. The Residence NR LLC- Resolution
6. Admin.
a. Annual Financial Statement/Report- Resolution
b. Adoption of PAAA Policies- Resolution
c. Appointment of Board Officers- Resolution
d. Appointment of Committee Members- Resolution
7. Other Business/Discussion Items
8. Next Meeting Date – April 28, 2021
9. Adjournment

Minutes Summary of the Regular Meeting of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(IDA) held on Wednesday, February 24, 2021 in Council Chambers, 515 North Avenue, New
Rochelle, New York, taking place remotely via Microsoft Teams
Present:

Charles B. Strome, III, Chair
Ivar Hyden, Vice Chair
Robert Balachandran, Treasurer
Howard Greenberg, Secretary
Felim O’Malley, Member
Jordanna Davis, Member
Amy Moselhi, Member

Absent:
Kathleen Gill, Chief of Staff, Interim Commissioner of Development
Adam Salgado, IDA Executive Director, Dpty. Commiss. for Econ. Dev.
Lisa Davis, Business Ambassador
Darius Chafizedah Esq., IDA Transaction Counsel, Harris Beach
Kevin Gremse, NDC, IDA Financial Consultant
Luiz Aragon, Economic Development Consultant
Roisin Ponkshe, Technical Consultant
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Also Present:

IDA Meeting was called to order by the Chair, Mr. Strome. Roll Call was taken.
Announcements: None.

R

Minutes: A motion was made by Mr. Strome and seconded by Ms. Moselhi to approve the January
2021 Minutes; and was unanimously approved.
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Monarch Development Company JV LLC- 11 Mill Road Public Hearing & Authorization
Mr. Salgado stated that the IDA received an application from Monarch Development Company JV
LLC proposing to convert the property previously known as Cooper’s Corners Nursery and Garden
Center at 11 Mill Road, New Rochelle, NY into a state-of-the-art 72-unit assisted living residence. The
Property consists of approximately 3.47 acres and is located on the outskirts of a residential district at
the intersection of Mill Road, North Avenue and Wilmot Road. The project is proposed to be
approximately 61,500 gross square feet, with two floors and a lower level service area. In connection
with the project, the applicant is improving the Mill Road/North Avenue intersection to allow for
pedestrian crossing along all three legs of the intersection, among other improvements. The Property is
in the R1-20 single-family residential district with a Senior Citizen District Overlay.
The Resolution before the Board is for Authorization, the Applicant is requesting a mortgage
recording tax exemption, sales tax exemption and a 10-year PILOT that conforms with the UTEP.
Both NDC, the IDA’s financial consultant, and the IDA Finance Subcommittee, have reviewed and are
in support of the proposed incentive request and Kevin Gremse of NDC will speak to provide a more
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detailed summary. Darius Chafizadeh of IDA Transaction Counsel Harris Beach also commented on
the proposal.
Public Hearing
The City Business Ambassador, Lisa Davis, introduced the Public Hearing in accordance with Section
859 A, subdivision 2 of the New York General Municipal Law. Notifications for this hearing appeared
in the Journal News on February 13, 2021.
Mr. Strome, Chair, opened the hearing to the public who wished to comment or speak in favor or
opposition.

Shmuel Vasser
New Rochelle, NY
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The following members of the public provided comments, full public comments can be viewed:
https://newrochelle.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=2&clip_id=1765

Steven Cohen
27 Broadfield Road
New Rochelle
(Letter submitted, attached hereto)
Joseph Rafalowicz
New Rochelle, NY

D
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Michael Yellin
38 Lakeside Drive
New Rochelle, NY
(Letter submitted, attached hereto)
Charlotte Addison

Geraldine Tortorella
Deborah Blatt
New Rochelle, NY

Joyce Furfero
1373 Weaver Street
Scarsdale
(Letter submitted, attached hereto)
Victoria Sturner
New Rochelle
(Letter submitted, attached hereto)
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Fran Sisco
(Letter submitted, attached hereto)
There being no more speakers, the Chair, Mr. Strome closed the hearing for this project.
The Board provided questions and comments.
A motion to approve was made by Mr. Strome and seconded by Mr. Balachandran. All in favor, the
motion passed.
RXR 587 Main Owner LLC - Resolution
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Mr. Salgado stated that the resolution before the Board is related to RXR 587 Main Owner LLC’s
project located at 587 Main St a/k/a 348 Huguenot Street. The project received IDA approval in 2016
at which time a public hearing was held and which contemplated a mortgage recording tax exemption
for any future permanent financing. This resolution before the Board is to authorize the execution and
delivery of the Permanent Mortgage and related documents, and to provide a mortgage recording tax
exemption. In connection with the permanent financing for this project the Company is taking out an
additional approximate $20,000,000, which would result in an approximate $200,000 mortgage
recording tax exemption, subject to the finalization of the loan amount.
A motion to approve was made by Mr. Hyden and seconded by Mr. Balachandran. All in favor, the
motion passed.

R

PKF O’Connor Davies, Auditor - Resolution
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Mr. Salgado stated that the resolution before the Board is to authorize the appointment of PKF
O’Connor Davies, LLP as the independent certified public accounting firm to the agency for the
purpose of preparing the independent audit report of the agency for the fiscal year ending December
31, 2020.
The City of New Rochelle has engaged the Audit Firm to prepare the annual independent audit report
of the City and the City’s related units, for which the Agency’s share of such compensation is equal to
$7,000. This amount is available in the 2021 Budget to be paid out of the accounting audit line item to
the City of New Rochelle.
A motion to approve was made by Mr. Strome and seconded by Mr. Greenberg. All in favor, the
motion passed.
Westhab Contract Renewal- Resolution
Mr. Salgado stated that the resolution before the Board is to authorize the extension of the Westhab
Services contract for the term of one year, from March 10, 2021 through March 10, 2022. The
$250,000 amount remains the same as last year and covers job training services provided through the
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First Source Referral Center. A presentation describing Westhab’s services is included in the meeting
backup. This amount has been included and was approved in the 2021 adopted budget of the Agency
in October.
A motion to approve was made by Mr. Hyden and seconded by Mr. Strome. All in favor, the motion
passed.
New Business/Discussion:
Ms. Lisa Davis informed the Board that an expenditure to Today Media had been made pursuant to
IDA procurement policy.
Next Meeting: Wednesday, March 24, 2021
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Adjournment: Mr. Balachandran made a motion to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Mr. Strome.
All in favor, the motion passed.
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NRAJ Statement
New RocheUe IDA

Monarch Development Company, 11 Mill Road

February24, 2021

Michael Yellin, 38 Lakeside Drive. I am co-chair of the New Rochelle Alliance for Justice, an

allianceoffaith, community, andlaborgroups organizingfor equitabledevelopment in New
Rochelle.

Wewould like to congratulate Ms. Moselhi andMr. Hydenon their re-appointmentto the EDA.
We look forward to working with you to transform the IDA to ensure it fulfills its mission to

residents.
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promote economicvitality, prosperity, andimprove the standardofliving for ALLNewRochelle

If the MonarchDevelopment Project follows the samepattern ofall the others approvedby the
IDA over the last few years, it will come nowhere near meeting the goals of the Economic
Opportunity and Nondiscrimination Policy that you adopted, particularly the MAVBE and

R

employment goals.

Onthe agendatonight is therenewalofthe contract with Westhab.WhatI am aboutto sayis not
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a criticism ofWesthab,it is a criticism ofthe policyunderwhichthey operate.

Thewagesat thejobs that WesthabplacesNewRochelleresidents in are substandard.

Accordingto MIT's LivingWageCalculator, in WestchesterCounty, an individualwithno
childrenneedsto earn$20. 10/houror $41,805/year, in orderto pay for housing, food, health
care, andotherbasicneeds. In a householdwith 2 childrenand2 adults working, eachadult
wouldneedto earn $28.90/houror $76,913/yearto be consideredearninga living wage. This is
basedon working2,080hoursper year.

Accordingto Westhabrecords, the averagewagefor thosetheyhelp place is less than$20/hour.
This is not enoughto live on. That means that we, thepublic, throughthe IDA, are subsidizing
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bad actors who do not even pay a living wage, particularly in constmction, and encouraging a
race to the bottom.

You have the power to change that. You can adopt refonns to strengthen the Economic

Opportunity andNondiscrimination Policy that will result in family supporting careers for
residents.

Tomorrow, the Westchester County IDA, whosejurisdiction includes the County, White Plains
and Mount Vemon, will be voting to adopt a number ofpolicy reforms that we have been
advocating for here in New Rochelle for a number ofyears now.

AF
T

We urge you to do the same, and more, before approving public subsidies for the Monarch
Development Project and all other projects coming before you.
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Thankyou.
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A. JOYCE FURFERO, PHD., J.D.
ATTORNEY AT LAW

1373 Weaver Street
Scarsdale, New York 10583-7035
Email: drfurfero@drfurfero.com

Office: (914) 725-3657
Fax: (914) 725-3657
Cell: (914) 325-5230

December 20, 2018
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Mr. Charles B. Strome III, Chair, and members of the
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency Board
Ivar Hyden, Howard Greenberg, Robert P. Balachandran,
Felim O'Malley, Jordanna Davis, Amy Moselhi
New Rochelle City Hall
515 North Avenue
New Rochelle, NY 10801

By email to Roisin Ponkshe at rponkshe@newrochelleny.com

Letter Opposing Application of Monarch Development Company JV LLC
for Tax Incentives

R

Re:

Dear Mr. Strome and IDA Board members,

D

Michael Glynn and his fellow principals at Monarch Development Company JV LLC, Andrew
Teeters and Ross Dingman, have set before you an application for tax incentives to construct an
assisted living and memory care facility at 11 Mill Rd (Coopers Corner). It is the same project as
ND Acquisitions LLC presented to you in December 2018. You refused to approve ND
Acquisitions’ application back then, and I am writing to you to request that you either deny
Monarch Development's application or, at minimum, not approve it, which is what you did with
ND Acquisitions' application in December 2018.
What is Monarch Development's relationship to ND Acquisitions, if any? Monarch Development
and ND Acquisitions have retained the same attorney, David Steinmetz, of Zarin & Steinmetz, to
file their applications. Monarch’s application is textually identical to ND Acquisitions’
application, except for a few minor adjustments to some of the numbers and dollars, e.g. 300 v
350 construction jobs, 64 v 65 permanent jobs, $39 million project v $41 million project, etc.,
and the $2 million that Monarch expects to save from tax incentives on its $39 million project is
not much different from the $1 million that ND Acquisitions expected to save on its $41 million
project, which tax incentives you refused to grant to back in December 2018.
1
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Monarch Development has not even bothered to develop its own business model, design its
own building, conduct its own SEQRA, or get its own site plan approval from the Planning
Board. Instead, it is relying on ND Acquisitions’ architectural plans, SEQRA Form, traffic studies,
and site plan approval from the Planning Board, dated September 23, 2019. Not only is
Monarch’s application a joke, it may also be a fraud. Mssrs. Glynn, Teeters, and Dingman may
be appropriating trade secrets without the owners’ knowledge or permission.
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Has the City confirmed that Mr. Glynn (who represented ND Acquisitions on its NRIDA
application in 2018), his cohorts (Teeters and Dingman), and Monarch Development actually
have permission or the right to use ND Acquisitions’ documents in Monarch's application for tax
incentives from the NRIDA? If Mr. Glynn is planning to use proprietary property rather than
generate new original documents, proper permissions must be obtained and included in
Monarch's application package for the public. Otherwise, the use of ND Acquisitions’
proprietary property is suspect as misappropriation of trade secrets, something for which Mr.
Glynn's cohorts, Mssrs. Teeters and Dingman, are currently on trial in Maryland, and on which
charge the lower court granted the plaintiff company, Brightview, a temporary restraining order
(TRO), on February 28, 2020, finding that Brightview is most likely to succeed on its claims
against Teeters and Dingman at trial. <https://casetext.com/case/brightview‐grp‐v‐teeters‐1>

R

Mssrs. Teeters and Dingman may be currently in violation of that TRO. They subsequently made
a motion to modify the TRO (1) to make clear that Defendants may use the information,
contained in the Appendix A documents, that is also publicly available and (2) to clarify that
they may develop senior living communities on any property that is not listed on the pipeline
document in Appendix A, or that has also been made publicly available.” On July 10, 2020, the
court denied Teeters and Dingman’s motion, <https://casetext.com/case/brightview‐grp‐v‐
teeters‐2>. This court’s denial looks like Brightview’s TRO would prohibit Teeters and Dingman
from developing ANY senior living community, including one here in New Rochelle.1
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Monarch Development's website <https://monarchcommunities.com/> and its brochure of
glossy pictures of shiny buildings and sparkling complexes
<https://monarchcommunities.com/flipbook#1> are also highly suspect, considering that
Mssrs. Glynn, Teeters, and Dingman incorporated Monarch Development only this year on July
13, 2020 (p. 2 of its application, p. 43 of the agenda),
<https://newrochelleny.com/DocumentCenter/View/13228/December‐16‐2020‐Draft‐IDA‐
Packet> and Monarch Communities only last year on July 10, 2019 (p. 2 of the Brightview case,
see link above). How did either Monarch organization amass this portfolio so quickly? It didn’t.
None of the facilities pictured on Monarch Development's website or in its glossy picture
brochure belong to Monarch Development or Monarch Communities. They were built by
ProCon Inc. <https://proconinc.com/>; and all but one of the complexes are not even senior
living facilities and none is a memory care facility. Neither Monarch organization is even the
owner, operator, or manager of any of these enterprises. Duplicitous advertising.

1

Brightview moved for Summary Judgment on December 11, 2020.

2

9

Where are Monarch Development’s last 3 years of annual statements (p. 43 of the agenda)?
Obviously, it has none, because the business was established only this year. How does NRIDA
know that the company is financially solvent or that Mssrs. Glynn, Teeters, and Dingman would
be fiscally responsible to complete this development project and responsibly manage the
completed facility, given their lack of track records. To date, they have only worked for
development companies, but they have never owned and operated one.
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NRIDA’s consultant, National Development Council, considers this development project to have
a high risk profile and to be more risky than a standard residential facility (p. 7 of the agenda).
According to the consultant, even “the applicant considers an assisted living residence to be
more of a niche operating enterprise with a higher level of risk. The risk profile is higher due to
the longer anticipated stabilization period and the high operating and personnel expenses the
project needs to support” (p. 10 of the agenda). Because of the project's high risk profile,
Monarch Development is required to provide 50% equity (more than the standard 65%/35%
split of debt and equity for a standard residential facility). This equity amounts to nearly $20
million for this project. From where did/does this business, which was only established this
year, get almost $20 million in equity to support its half‐share of financing (p. 7 of the agenda)?
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From where does Monarch Development get its money? Who are its shareholders? To whom is
the NRIDA actually giving tax incentives? Ownership of Monarch lacks transparency. In 2018,
ND Acquisitions was owned in large part by Charles River Realty Investors, a private equity firm.
A private equity firm is a group of accredited individuals and/or institutions, who have pooled
their money to take above average risks with expectations of making above average returns.
The IDAs were not formed for the purpose of providing tax incentives to reduce risk from
speculation and raise returns for speculators, and, to the extent that Monarch is in anyway
tethered to ND Acquisitions or Charles River Realty Investors or any other private equity firm or
hedge fund, this IDA would be doing just that: underwriting speculation.
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What we do know is that Monarch Development is tethered to Monarch Communities.
Monarch Communities is owned by Mssrs. Glynn, Teeters, and Dingman, and, according to the
facts in the Maryland lawsuit, a company named RAM HoldCo, LLC, is also a member (see p. 2
of the February decision). A google search revealed about a dozen RAM HoldCo, LLC, companies
across the company, some active, some inactive, but all incorporated by and at one time owned
by Lehman Brothers, and we all know what Lehman Brothers did as a business and what
happened to it. So, there is a strong possibility that Monarch Communities member, RAM
HoldCo, LLC, is either a private equity firm or a hedge fund, and either status should give the
NRIDA pause to grant tax incentives to Monarch Development on its NRIDA application.
The Monarch Development project lacks public support (as did the ND Acquisitions project). It
is not and never has been a secret that the families who live in and around the property in
question were not in favor of the ND Acquisitions project and they are no more in favor of this
project. Its location is out of character in a residential neighborhood, and the traffic congestion
that already exists at its intersection of North Ave, Mill Rd, and Wilmot Rd will only worsen.

3
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Needless to say, this project fails the “demonstrated public support“ test required by NY Gen
Mun Law § 874 (2015).
Maybe there are simple answers to my questions, maybe not; but I think that I have given you
enough reasons to question Monarch Development's application and either deny it or, at
minimum, do what you did with the ND Acquisitions' application and that is not approve it so
that Monarch cannot file an Article 78 lawsuit against the City on a final determination.
If you have any questions, please contact me immediately.
Thank you in advance for your consideration.
S/

R
D

AJF:lt
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A. Joyce Furfero

4
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From: Victoria Sturner <vsturner@optonline.net>
Sent: Monday, February 22, 2021 9:28 PM
To: Salgado, Adam <asalgado@newrochelleny.com>
Subject: Monarch Development Project, 11 Mill Road, New Rochelle, NY
** EXTERNAL SENDER **
Dear Adam Salgado,
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My name is Victoria Sturner, owner of 1530 North Avenue, New Rochelle, NY. (Firehouse #6). My home abuts the above
referenced project and I am wholeheartedly in favor of its completion.
Michael Glynn has successfully answered all my questions concerning the proposed advanced memory care facility. It is
well designed and thought out. The garden center is an ideal location for the project which has a low density footprint
that is great for the surrounding neighborhood. New Rochelle currently lacks a facility like this and I believe the city will
benefit from it in many ways.

Very truly yours,
Victoria Sturner

D
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Feel free to call or email me if you would like to discuss this matter. I would appreciate it if you could place my letter in
support of the project in the public record.

914‐636‐0715, vsturner@optonline.net

1
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From: Fran Sisco <francissisco@aol.com>
Sent: Tuesday, February 23, 2021 2:20 PM
To: Salgado, Adam <asalgado@newrochelleny.com>
Cc: mglynn@monarchcommunities.com
Subject: From Fran Sisco ‐ regarding Monarch Development project
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** EXTERNAL SENDER **

D

Thanks,
Fran Sisco
cell 914.589.1013

R

2/23/21 - 2:20pm
To Adam Salgado of IDA
Hi Adam - I plan to attend the meeting on Wednesday night, but in case I am not able to attend and voice my support, I
wanted you to know in this email I understand the project under Monarch's management will be the same physical
specifications as under National Development, which I am in agreement with. Also, I am impressed by Michael Glynn's
leadership for this project over the last 2-3 years and very glad he is leading the project for Monarch. At the meeting I
may ask questions about Monarch's financial strength and management, as compared to ND, and I'm sure Michael will
advise accordingly. Looking forward to the meeting and to zoom/meet you, Adam.

1
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From: Cohen, Steven [mailto:SCohen@kanekessler.com]
Sent: Wednesday, February 24, 2021 12:52 PM
To: Strome, Chuck <Cstrome@newrochelleny.com>
Cc: Ponkshe, Roisin <rponkshe@newrochelleny.com>
Subject: RE: Monarch Development Company JV, LLC -Mill Road Inducement
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** EXTERNAL SENDER **

Mr. Strome – I am resubmitting my communication below to the members of the IDA Board in anticipation of these
evening’s meeting. Kindly distribute to the members of the Board.
Regards.
Steven E. Cohen | Partner
KANE KESSLER, P.C.
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We’ve moved. Please note our new address below:

D

600 Third Avenue | 35th FL | New York, NY 10016-1901
Direct: 212·519-5115 | Main: 212·541·6222 | Fax: 212·245·3009
SCohen@kanekessler.com | www.kanekessler.com

KANE|KESSLER

This e-mail and any attachments thereto, is intended only for use by the addressee(s) named herein and may contain
legally privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the intended recipient of this e-mail, you are hereby
notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this e- mail, and any attachments thereto, is strictly prohibited.
If you receive this e-mail in error please immediately notify me at (212) 541-6222 and permanently delete the original
copy, any copy of this e-mail, and any printout thereof.
To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS, we inform you that any U.S. federal tax advice contained
in this communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used, for the
purpose of (i) avoiding penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, marketing or recommending to
another party any transaction or matter addressed herein.
From: Cohen, Steven
Sent: Wednesday, January 20, 2021 11:04 AM
To: Strome, Chuck <Cstrome@newrochelleny.com>
Cc: Ponkshe, Roisin <rponkshe@newrochelleny.com>
Subject: Monarch Development Company JV, LLC -Mill Road Inducement
1

14

VIA EMAIL
Charles B. Strome, Chair
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
515 North Avenue
New Rochelle, NY 10801
Cstrome@newrochelleny.com
Re:

Monarch Development Company JV, LLC -Mill Road Inducement

Dear Mr. Strome:
I live at 27 Broadfield Road, New Rochelle, which is less than 1000 feet from the proposed Coopers Corner project. I am
following up on my email to you below of December 14, 2020 objecting to application of Monarch Development
Company JV, LLC’s for approximately $2.6 million in tax incentives.
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I understand the IDA is now inclined to vote for the proposal because Monarch has produced so called evidence of
financing in the form of the Welltower letter. As a corporate attorney that has worked in the financing world for over 30
years, I respectfully tell you that the Welltower letter is not worth much more than the paper it is written on because it
contains none of the attributes recognized in the legal and financing world as necessary and customary to reflect a
binding letter of commitment to finance. It should therefore be completed disregarded by the IDA for purposes of its
analysis.
Monarch is a new entity with no operational history and no projects under management.

Monarch is trying to proceed using an entity that was formed only last year and has no operational and financial track
record. Zero!

R

Monarch proposes that the property will be owned by a yet to be formed special purpose entity! Special purpose
entities are used to insulate their parents and affiliates from any liabilities and have no meaningful resources to back
their commitments. The City will, therefore, have no recourse if anything goes wrong.
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The tax savings are not appropriate; Monarch wants to get 12% rate of return on its investment. 12% when every day
Americans go hungry and can’t pay their rent!! This is plain and simple abuse of public taxpayers.
Monarch is preventing development of Cooper’s Corner for residential purposes and the City from realizing tax revenue
now, by taking action that will result in the property being tied up in lengthy litigation for years to come.
I urge the IDA not to waste our tax money and vote no!
Thank you for your consideration.
Please send a copy of this email to other members of the IDA Board.
Sincerely,
Steven E. Cohen
Steven E. Cohen | Partner
KANE KESSLER, P.C.
666 Third Avenue | New York, NY 10017-4041
2
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Direct: 212·519-5115 | Main: 212·541·6222 | Fax: 212·245·3009
SCohen@kanekessler.com | www.kanekessler.com

KANE|KESSLER

This e-mail and any attachments thereto, is intended only for use by the addressee(s) named herein and may contain
legally privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the intended recipient of this e-mail, you are hereby
notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this e- mail, and any attachments thereto, is strictly prohibited.
If you receive this e-mail in error please immediately notify me at (212) 541-6222 and permanently delete the original
copy, any copy of this e-mail, and any printout thereof.
To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS, we inform you that any U.S. federal tax advice contained
in this communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used, for the
purpose of (i) avoiding penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, marketing or recommending to
another party any transaction or matter addressed herein.
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From: Cohen, Steven
Sent: Monday, December 14, 2020 4:32 PM
To: Cstrome@newrochelleny.com
Cc: rponkshe@newrochelleny.com
Subject:

VIA EMAIL

Re:

R

Charles B. Strome, Chair
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
515 North Avenue
New Rochelle, NY 10801
Cstrome@newrochelleny.com

Monarch Development Company JV, LLC -Mill Road Inducement

D

Dear Mr. Strome:

I live at 27 Broadfield Road, New Rochelle, which is less than 1000 feet from the proposed Coopers Corner project. I
would like to be given an opportunity to speak at the IDA meeting on December 16 th.
I am against the November 5, 2020 application of Monarch Development Company JV, LLC’s for approximately $2.6
million in tax incentives for the following reasons:
Monarch is a start up with no track record or experience. The IDA should not facilitate Monarch’s using New Rochelle as
a guinea pig to practice on. An entity with no experience has no business undertaking such a complex project and a
bungled effort has the potential to damage New Rochelle for years, if not decades, if a failed or substandard effort
creates environmental issues, traffic issues and operational issues which could harm seniors under their care. This is
undoubtedly not lost on those Monarch is approaching to invest since Monarch does not yet seem to have
demonstrated any meaningful ability to raise money.
It is highly inappropriate for Monarch to be given the benefit of prior approvals previously given to ND Development
who had considered developing this site. ND Development as an organization is a highly seasoned developer with deep
financial resources. This is very relevant considering the issuance of approvals. A start up like Monarch, with zero prior
experience and no demonstrated meaningful financial resources should not be given the same consideration. If Monarch
3
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fails they pick up their marbles and go home, but the citizens of New Rochelle are left with the mess. The IDA should
NOT help them until they demonstrate they have the resources and knowhow.
The environmental and traffic issues relevant to this project have significantly evolved since the last approval were
issued to ND due to two major developments (WTA school on Stratton and proposed Senior facility on Mill Road) being
considered within a quarter mile of Cooper’s Corner. This necessitates a complete reevaluation of this project.
IDA’s are not permitted to provide financial assistance to nursing homes. The Monarch project seems suspiciously like a
project that would fall into this prohibited category. The Attorney General’s guidance in this area is quite clear and has
never been overruled by any court. It therefore stands as binding unless it is revised or the underlying law is changed.
The IDA must seek a ruling from the AG before it can proceed.
IDA tax incentives are given to developers with proven ability and experience who have put together credible project
plans. Monarch doesn’t have experience or a credible plan or financial resources. Monarch’s application for IDA tax
incentives is nothing more than a thinly veiled attempt to enable it to get money out of investors. Supporting this
project will limit the IDA’s ability to support other worthy projects in New Rochelle competing for its support.
Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,
Steven E. Cohen
Steven E. Cohen | Partner
KANE KESSLER, P.C.
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Please send a copy of this email with other members of the IDA Board.

KANE|KESSLER
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666 Third Avenue | New York, NY 10017-4041
Direct: 212·519-5115 | Main: 212·541·6222 | Fax: 212·245·3009
SCohen@kanekessler.com | www.kanekessler.com
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This e-mail and any attachments thereto, is intended only for use by the addressee(s) named herein and may contain
legally privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the intended recipient of this e-mail, you are hereby
notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this e- mail, and any attachments thereto, is strictly prohibited.
If you receive this e-mail in error please immediately notify me at (212) 541-6222 and permanently delete the original
copy, any copy of this e-mail, and any printout thereof.
To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS, we inform you that any U.S. federal tax advice contained
in this communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used, for the
purpose of (i) avoiding penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, marketing or recommending to
another party any transaction or matter addressed herein.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
Report on the Financial Statements

AF
T

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the New Rochelle Industrial Development
Agency (“Agency”), a discretely presented component unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York, as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Agency’s financial statements as listed in the table of contents. The financial
statements of the Agency as of December 31, 2019, were audited by other auditors whose report dated
March 19, 2020 expressed an unmodified opinion.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

R

Auditors’ Responsibility

D

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Agency’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Agency’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the Agency, as of December 31, 2020 and the respective changes in
financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Emphasis of Matters
As discussed in Note 4 in the notes to financial statements, on March 11, 2020, the World Health
Organization declared a global pandemic as a result of the spread of COVID-19 (“Coronavirus”). Our
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

R

Supplementary Information
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Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial statements
in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the financial statements and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of
the financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.
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Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statement that
collectively comprise the Agency’s financial statements. The schedule of budget with actual is presented
for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such
information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March XX, 2021
on our consideration of the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is to solely describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Agency’s
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.
PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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NEW ROCHELLE - INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2020

The following is a discussion and analysis of the New Rochelle - Industrial Development Agency
(“IDA”) financial performance for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. The section is a summary
of the IDA’s financial activities based on currently known facts, decisions, or conditions. This section is
only an introduction and should be read in conjunction with the IDA’s financial statements, which
immediately follow this section.
Organization
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The New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency is a public benefit corporation created in 1977
pursuant to Section 908-b of the New York State General Municipal Law. Its seven-member
governing board is appointed by the New Rochelle City Council to indefinite terms. Presently, a
member of the New Rochelle City Council serves as the IDA's Vice Chair and the City Manager of the
City of New Rochelle serves as the IDA's Chair. A representative from the New Rochelle School
District serves on the board as well as four other residents of the City of New Rochelle.
The IDA is a separate entity and operates independently from the City of New Rochelle. However,
because the City appoints its board of directors, the IDA is financially accountable to the City and is also
included in the City's financial statements as a component unit.
Financial Highlights

R



During the current year of operations, the Agency’s net position decreased by $36,321.
Total revenues for the fiscal year 2020 were $813,880 an increase of $251,048 or
44.6%.
Total expenses for fiscal year 2020 were $850,201, a decrease of $315,483 or 27.1%
from the prioryear.

D




Overview of the Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include the statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses
and changes in net position, statement of cash flows, and notes to the financial statements. The IDA
also includes in this report additional information to supplement the basic financial statements.
The first of these statements is the Statement of Net Position. This is the statement of financial position
presenting information that includes all of the IDA’s assets and liabilities, with the difference reported as
net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of
whether the financial position of the IDA as a whole is improving or deteriorating. Evaluation of the
overall economic health of the IDA must include other non-financial factors such as the economic
picture of the City and the State, in addition to the financial information provided in this report.
The second statement is the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, which
reports how the IDA’s net position changed during the current and previous fiscal period. Revenues and
expenses are included when earned or incurred, regardless of when cash is received or paid.
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The third statement is the Statement of Cash Flows, which shows the sources and uses of cash.
The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements provide information essential to a full
understanding of the financial statements.
Below is a summary of the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Position for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Summary of Net Position

2020
$

Current assets
Total assets

2019

750,851

$

729,243

$

Total liabilities

$

21,608

3.0%

729,243

21,608

3.0%

99,561

41,632

57,929

139.1%

57,929

139.1%

99,561

Net position:
Unrestricted

Percent
Change

750,851

AF
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Current liabilities

Dollar
Change

651,290

41,632

$

687,611

$

(36,321)

-5.3%

Summary of Changes in Net Position
Fiscal Year

R

2020

D

Revenues:
Charges for services
Application fees
Service income
Miscellaneous income
Interest income
Total revenues

$

$

Expenses:
Personnel services and benefits
Professional services
Memberships and subscriptions
Advertising
Miscellaneous expenses
Job Training
Other
Total expenses
Change in net position

748,821
3,600
47,500
13,255
704
813,880

$

$

201,734
68,019
850
6,741
509
346,344
226,004
850,201
$

(36,321)

Dollar
Change

2019

512,250
6,600
37,000
4,972
2,010
562,832

$

$

201,734
72,269
21,200
398,283
6,198
250,000
216,000
1,165,684
$

(602,852)

$

236,571
(3,000)
10,500
8,283
(1,306)
251,048

Percent
Change

$

46.2%
-45.5%
28.4%
166.6%
-65.0%
0

(4,250)
(20,350)
(391,542)
(5,689)
96,344
10,004
(315,483)

0.0%
-5.9%
-96.0%
-98.3%
-91.8%
38.5%
4.6%
-27.1%

566,531

-94.0%
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During 2020, seventeen total transactions were consummated, seven of which constituted a closing of
an approved project: BRP 10 Commerce, LLC; New Rochelle Birch Development, LLC; CH New
Rochelle, LLC; WBLM 25 Maple Owner, LLC; MJ Garden, LLC; Georgica Green Ventures, LLC; and
Lincoln Renaissance, LLC. The remaining ten constituted smaller transactions such as terminations
and refinancing transactions. Of the seven projects that closed in 2020, two were approved in 2018,
two were approved in 2019, and three were approved in 2020. All seventeen projects resulted in a
total transaction fee of $748,821 in 2020. Five additional projects are anticipated to close in 2021 with
an estimated transaction fee of $509,937, which constitutes a 40% split of the transaction fee with the
Corporation for Local Development, pursuant to the adoption of the Unified Joint Application and fee
schedule. The net impact of the projects that closed in 2020 is an increase of $236,571 from the prior
year total. Annual service, application and other fees increased by $15,783 while interest income
decreased slightly from the prior year by $1,306.
Budgetary Highlights
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The IDA adopts an annual budget and reports the results of operations on a budgetary comparison
basis.
In preparing its budget, the IDA attempts to estimate its revenues using realistic, but conservative,
methods so as to budget its expenditure appropriations and activities in a prudent manner. The original
FY 2020 budget anticipated the completion of six new transactions at estimated transaction fees of
$627,978. Seventeen transactions, including smaller transactions such as refinancing and terminations,
were concluded in 2020 generating transaction fees of $748,821, with five additional projects
anticipated to close in 2021 with an estimated transaction fee of approximately $509,937.
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The adopted FY 2020 budget anticipated a deficiency of $370,974 to the fund balance to finance
estimated expenditures of $1,050,552. Actual expenditures were $200,351 or 19.07% less than
budget. Actual Revenues were $135,598 or 20.0% greater than budget. The fund balance in FY 2020
decreased minimally by $36,321, available reserves for future years from $687,611 to $651,290.
Economic Factors

The IDA will continue to look for funding opportunities to further its mission of promoting local
development. Each year, the IDA will evaluate opportunities for investment of its resources in furthering
this mission.
Contacting Administration
This financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a
general overview of the IDA’s finances and to show the accountability for the money received. If you
have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the New Rochelle
Industrial Development Agency’s Board at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York.
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City of New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Net Position
December 31,
2020
ASSETS
Cash and equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expense

$

723,520
26,970
361

Total Assets

$

750,851

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

$

99,561

NET POSITION
Unrestricted

AF
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651,290
$

750,851

D

R

Total Liabilities and Net Position

See notes to financial statements
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City of New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Year Ended December 31,
2020
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Application fees
Service income
Miscellaneous income

$

748,821
3,600
47,500
13,255
813,176

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel services and benefits
Professional services
Memberships and subscriptions
Advertising
Miscellaneous expenses
Job training
Other

201,734
68,019
850
6,741
509
346,344
226,004

Total Operating Expenses
Loss from Operations

850,201
(37,025)

704

R

NON-OPERATING REVENUES
Interest income

AF
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Total Operating Revenues

Change in Net Position

D

NET POSITION
Beginning of year
Ending of year

(36,321)

687,611
$

651,290

See notes to financial statements
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City of New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31,
2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from charges for services and fees
Cash paid for personal services and fringe benefits
Cash paid for administrative costs

$

Net Cash from Operating Activities

805,676
(201,734)
(590,538)
13,404

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income

704

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of Year
End of Year

AF
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Net Change in Cash and Equivalents

R

RECONCILIATION OF LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss from operations
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

D

Net Cash From Operating Activities

14,108

709,412
$

723,520

$

(37,025)
(7,500)
98,214
(40,285)

$

13,404

See notes to financial statements
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New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2020
Note 1 - Organization and Purpose
The New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency ("Agency"), a corporate governmental agency
constituting a public benefit corporation, was created to assist the City of New Rochelle, New York (“City”)
in financing projects within the City limits that would enhance the social and economic fabric of the City.
Although members of the Agency are appointed by the City Council, the Agency members have complete
responsibility for management of the Agency and accountability for all fiscal matters. The Agency is
governed by Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New York. The Agency is exempt
from Federal, State and Local income taxes.
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A.

Financial Reporting Entity

B.

Basis of Accounting
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The Agency has been identified as an organization related to the City. In accordance with the
criteria enumerated in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 61, the
Agency’s financial statements have been discretely presented in the City’s financial statements.
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The financial statements of the Agency have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. GASB is
the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. The Agency reports its operations on the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time
liabilities are incurred.

D

The Agency distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the Agency’s
principal ongoing operation. The principle operating revenue of the Agency is rental of real property
and administration fees. Operating expenses include personnel services and benefits, professional
fees and planning services. All revenue and expenses not meeting the definition are reported as
non-operating revenues and expenses.
C.

Assets and Net Position
Cash and Equivalents, Investments and Risk Disclosure
Cash and Equivalents - Cash and equivalents consist of funds deposited in demand
deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and short-term investments with original maturities
of less than three months from the date of acquisition.
The Agency’s deposits and investment policies are governed by State statutes. The
Agency has adopted its own written investment policy which provides for the deposit of
funds in FDIC insured commercial banks or trust companies located within the State. The
Agency is authorized to use demand deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and
certificates of deposit.
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New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Collateral is required for demand deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and certificates
of deposit at 100% of all deposits not covered by Federal deposit insurance. The Agency
has entered into custodial agreements with the various banks which hold their deposits.
These agreements authorize the obligations that may be pledged as collateral. Such
obligations include, among other instruments, obligations of the United States and its
agencies and obligations of the State and its municipal and school district subdivisions.
Investments - Permissible investments include obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S.
Agencies, repurchase agreements and obligations of New York State or its political
subdivisions.

Risk Disclosure

AF
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The Agency follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 72, “Fair Value Measurements
and Application”, which defines fair value and establishes a fair value hierarchy organized
into three levels based upon the input assumptions used in pricing assets. Level 1 inputs
have the highest reliability and are related to assets with unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets. Level 2 inputs relate to assets with other than quoted prices in active
markets which may include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or other inputs
which can be corroborated by observable market data. Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs and are used to the extent that observable inputs do not exist.
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Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the government will incur
losses in fair value caused by changing interest rates. The Agency does not have a
formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing
its exposure to fair value losses arising from changing interest rates. Generally, the
Agency does not invest in any long-term investment obligations.
Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank
failure, the Agency’s deposits may not be returned to it. GASB Statement No. 40,
“Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures – an amendment of GASB Statement No.
3”, directs that deposits be disclosed as exposed to custodial credit risk if they are
not covered by depository insurance and the deposits are either uncollateralized,
collateralized by securities held by the pledging financial institution or collateralized
by securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department but not in
the Agency’s name. The Agency’s aggregate bank balances that were not covered
by depository insurance were not exposed to custodial credit risk at December 31,
2020.
Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty will not fulfill
its specific obligation even without the entity’s complete failure. The Agency does
not have a formal credit risk policy other than restrictions to obligations allowable
under General Municipal Law of the State of New York.
Concentration of Credit Risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk attributed to
the magnitude of a government’s investments in a single issuer. The Agency’s
investment policy limits the amount on deposit at each of its banking institutions.
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New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Net Position - represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources less
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Net position is comprised of three components: net
investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted.
Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation/amortization and reduced by outstanding balances of bonds and other debt that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets or related debt are also included in this component of net position.
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Restricted net position consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources related to those assets. Assets are reported as restricted when constraints are placed on
asset use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the Agency or through external
restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments.
Unrestricted net position is the net amount of the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities,
and deferred inflows of resources that does not meet the definition of the two preceding categories.
D.

Use of Estimates

E.

D
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The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates, particularly given the
significant social and economic disruptions and uncertainties associated with the ongoing COVID19 (“Coronavirus”) pandemic and the mitigation responses, and such differences may be material
(see Note 4).
Subsequent Events Evaluation by Management
Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and/or recognition in the financial
statements through the date that the financial statements were available to be issued, which date is
March XX, 2021.
Note 3 - Conduit Debt Obligations, Revenue Bonds and Note Transactions
The Agency has issued Revenue Bonds to local non-profit organizations, which provides the
organizations the opportunity to utilize tax-exempt financing for eligible projects. These bonds are
secured by the property financed and are payable solely from payments received on the underlying
mortgage loans. Upon repayment of the bonds, ownership of the facilities transfers to the non-profit
organization serviced by the bond issuance.

31

New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to Financial Statements (Concluded)
December 31, 2020
Note 3 - Conduit Debt Obligations, Revenue Bonds and Note Transactions (Continued)
Neither the Agency or the City of New Rochelle, New York is obligated in any manner for repayment of
the bonds. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial
statements. As of December 31, 2020, there were two series of Revenue Bonds outstanding, with an
aggregate principal amount payable of $32,723,433.
Note 4 - Contingencies
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On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic as a result of the
spread of COVID-19 (“Coronavirus”). The pandemic has resulted in substantial economic volatility on a
global scale. Given the uncertainty around the extent and timing of the potential future spread or
mitigation of the coronavirus and around the imposition or relaxation of protective measures,
management cannot reasonably estimate the impact to future results of operations, cash flows, or
financial condition.
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*****
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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City of New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Schedule of Budget with Actual Operating Amounts
Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original Budget
OPERATING REVENUE
Charges for services
Application fees
Service income
Miscellaneous income

$

627,978
3,600
46,000
-

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel services and benefits
Professional services
Memberships and subscriptions
Office supplies
Advertising
Travel and conferences
Miscellaneous expenses
Job training
Other
Total Operating Expenses
Loss from Operations

627,978
3,600
46,000
-

$

NET POSITION
Beginning of Year

$

$

120,843
1,500
13,255

677,578

813,176

135,598

203,000
132,000
22,940
1,000
63,952
5,100
1,000
350,000
271,560

203,000
152,000
2,940
1,000
63,952
5,100
1,000
350,000
271,560

201,734
68,019
850
6,741
509
346,344
226,004

1,266
83,981
2,090
1,000
57,211
5,100
491
3,656
45,556

1,050,552

1,050,552

850,201

200,351

(37,025)

335,949
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Deficiency of revenues over expenses

748,821
3,600
47,500
13,255

677,578

(372,974)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSE)
Interest income

End of Year

$

Actual
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Total Revenues

Final Budget

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

(372,974)

2,000

2,000

704

(1,296)

(370,974)

(370,974)

(36,321)

334,653

370,974

370,974

687,611

316,637

-

$

-

$

651,290

$

651,290

See independent auditor's report
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance
With Government Auditing Standards
Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
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We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the City of New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”), a discretely presented component unit of the City of
New Rochelle, New York as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Agency’s financial statements, and have issued our
report thereon dated March XX, 2021.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

R

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Agency's internal
control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control. Accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control.

D

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Agency's financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report

D
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PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Agency’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Agency’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
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We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the City of New Rochelle
Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Agency’s basic financial
statements and have issued our report thereon dated March ___, 2021, which expresses an unmodified
opinion.

R

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the IDA failed to
comply with the Agency’s Investment Guidelines, the New York State (“NYS”) Comptroller’s Investment
Guidelines, Section 2925 of the NYS Public Authorities Law and Section 201.3 of the NYS Public
Authorities Law (collectively, the “Investment Guidelines”), insofar as they relate to accounting matters.
However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.
Accordingly, had we performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our attention
regarding the Agency’s noncompliance with the Investment Guidelines, insofar as they relate to accounting
matters.

D

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the members of the board of directors,
management of the Agency, and the Office of the New York State Comptroller and is not intended to be
and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency") held on
March 24, 2021, at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York, the following
members of the Agency were:

Present:

Absent:

AF
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Also Present:

D

R

After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to
The Residence NR LLC Facility located at 11 Burling Lane, City of New Rochelle, New
York (the "Facility"), including the authorization of the transfer by Anthony J. Hammel
and William J. Hammel, each an individual and member of The Residence NR LLC (the
“Company”), of their respective right, title and interest in and to the Company to "The
Anthony J. Hammel Family Trust" and "The William J. Hammel Family Trust",
respectively and the execution and delivery by the Agency of any all instruments,
documents, certificates, affidavits, returns and agreements in the forms and on such terms
and conditions acceptable to the Chair or the Executive Director of the Agency in
connection with the foregoing, all with respect to the Facility.
The following resolution was duly moved by _________________, seconded by
_________________, discussed and adopted with the following members voting:
Voting Aye

292499\4834-6677-5777\ v1

Voting Nay
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AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION
(The Residence NR LLC Project)
A regular meeting of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency was convened on
March 24, 2021.
The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit:
Resolution No. ___/2021-___

AF
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RESOLUTION
OF
THE
NEW
ROCHELLE
INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AUTHORIZING AND CONSENTING TO (A)
THE TRANSFER BY ANTHONY J. HAMMEL AND WILLIAM J.
HAMMEL, EACH AN INDIVIDUAL AND MEMBER OF THE
RESIDENCE NR LLC (THE “COMPANY”), OF THEIR RESPECTIVE
RIGHT, TITLE AND INTEREST IN AND TO THE COMPANY TO "THE
ANTHONY J. HAMMEL FAMILY TRUST" AND "THE WILLIAM J.
HAMMEL FAMILY TRUST", RESPECTIVELY AND (B) THE
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY BY THE AGENCY OF ANY AND ALL
INSTRUMENTS,
DOCUMENTS,
CERTIFICATES,
AFFIDAVITS,
RETURNS AND AGREEMENTS IN THE FORMS AND ON SUCH
TERMS AND CONDITIONS ACCEPTABLE TO THE CHAIR OR
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE AGENCY IN CONNECTION WITH
THE FOREGOING, ALL WITH RESPECT TO THE FACILITY.
.
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WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of
New York, as amended, and Chapter 785 of the Laws of 1976 of the State of New York, as
amended (collectively, the "Act"), the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the
"Agency") was created with the authority and power to own, lease and sell property for the
purpose of, among other things, acquiring, constructing and equipping industrial, manufacturing
and commercial facilities as authorized by the Act; and
WHEREAS, the Company previously submitted an application to the Agency requesting
the Agency’s assistance with a certain project (the "Project") consisting of: (i) the Agency taking
title, possession or control (by deed, lease, license or otherwise) of 11 Burling Lane, City of New
Rochelle, New York, as more fully described on Schedule A attached hereto (collectively, the
"Land") containing three (3) multi-family housing units (the "Existing Improvements"); (ii) the
demolition of the Existing Improvements and the construction and equipping on the Land of a
six-story 66,000+/- square foot modular structure expected to include approximately seventythree (73) studio rental units, of which approximately twenty percent (20%) of the total square
footage is dedicated to accommodate the needs of local artist live and work space and ten (10)
affordable units for residents with incomes of eighty percent (80%) of average median income
levels; an approximately 3,000 square-foot art workshop; an approximately 2,500 square-foot
exhibition gallery; and an approximately 2,250 square-foot musician performance space
(collectively, the Improvements"); and (iii) the acquisition and installation by the Company in
Page 2
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and around the Land and the Improvements of items of equipment and other tangible personal
property (collectively, the "Equipment"; and, together with the Land, the Existing Improvements
and the Improvements, collectively, the "Facility"); and
WHEREAS, pursuant to the authorizing resolution adopted on November 29, 2017, by
the Agency, the Agency and the Company executed and delivered, among other things:
Agent and Financial Assistance and Project Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2018
(the "Project Agreement"), by and between the Agency and the Company;

(ii)

Lease Agreement (and memorandum thereof), dated as of June 1, 2018 (the
"Lease Agreement"), by and between the Company and the Agency;

(iii)

Leaseback Agreement (and memorandum thereof), dated as of June 1, 2018 (the
"Leaseback Agreement"), by and between the Agency and the Company;

(iv)

PILOT Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2018 (the "PILOT Agreement"), by and
between the Agency and the Company;

(v)

Environmental Compliance and Indemnification Agreement, dated as of June 1,
2018 (the "Environmental Compliance Agreement"), from the Company to the
Agency; and

(vi)

Fee and Leasehold PILOT Mortgage, dated as of June 1, 2018, by and from the
Agency and the Company to the Agency on behalf of the Affected Taxing
Jurisdictions (the "PILOT Mortgage"; and, together with the Project Agreement,
the Lease Agreement, the Leaseback Agreement and the PILOT Agreement, and
the Environmental Compliance Agreement the "IDA Documents", as the same
have been amended and/or restated from time to time); and

D
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(i)

WHEREAS, by written notice and request dated March 15, 2021, given pursuant to
Section 6.3 of the Leaseback Agreement, the Company requested that the Agency authorize and
consent to the assignment, transfer and conveyance by the Anthony J. Hammel and William J.
Hammel of their respective right, title and interest in and to the Company to "The Anthony J.
Hammel Family Trust" and "The William J. Hammel Family Trust", respectively; and
WHEREAS, the Act authorizes and empowers the Agency to promote, develop,
encourage and assist projects such as the Facility and to advance the job opportunities, health,
general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the State of New York and the City of
New Rochelle; and
WHEREAS, the Agency has given due consideration to the aforementioned written
notice and request of the Company and the materials furnished to the Agency by or on behalf of
the Company.
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NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE NEW
ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL AGENCY AS FOLLOWS:
Section 1.
The Agency finds that the proposed action constitutes a "Type II action"
pursuant to 6 N.Y.C.R.R. § 617.5 and therefore is exempt from review under SEQRA.
Section 2.

The Agency hereby finds and determines:

(a)
By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary and
convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise all
powers granted to it under the Act; and
and

(b)

The Facility continues to constitute a "project", as such term is defined in the Act;

AF
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(c)
The actions undertaken by the Agency will promote and maintain the job
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the citizens of the City of New
Rochelle and the State of New York, continue to provide needed housing to the residents of the
City of New Rochelle, and improve their standard of living and thereby serve the public purposes
of the Act; and
(d)
Any and all other instruments, documents, certificates, affidavits, returns and
agreements in connection therewith, all with respect to the Facility, are reasonably necessary to
continue to provide needed housing to the residents of the City of New Rochelle; and
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(e)
Based upon representations of the Company, the Transaction complies with the
requirements of Section 6.3 of the Leaseback Agreement and the Anthony J. Hammel and
William J. Hammel will still be operating the Facility and control their respective trusts as such
the trusts are deemed to each constitutes a "qualified transferee" as such term is defined therein;
and
(f)
It is desirable and in the public interest for the Agency to approve and consent to
the transfer and execute and for the Agency to execute and deliver any and all instruments,
documents, certificates, affidavits, returns and agreements in connection therewith, all with
respect to the Facility, subject to the satisfaction of the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
Section 3.
(a)
The Chair or the Executive Director of the Agency are each hereby
authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute and, upon satisfaction by the Company of the
conditions set forth in Section 4 hereof, deliver any and all instruments, documents, certificates,
affidavits, returns and agreements in connection with the transfer in connection therewith in the
forms and on such terms and conditions acceptable to the Chair or the Executive Director of the
Agency and, where appropriate, the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Agency is hereby
authorized to affix the seal of the Agency to any and all such instruments, documents,
certificates, affidavits, returns and agreements and to attest the same. The execution of any and
all such instruments, documents, certificates, affidavits, returns and agreements by the Chair or
the Executive Director of the Agency, or by any authorized representative of the Agency
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designated by the Chair or the Executive Director as hereinafter provided, shall constitute
conclusive evidence of such approval.
(b)
The Chair or the Executive Director is further hereby authorized, on
behalf of the Agency, to designate in writing any additional authorized representatives of the
Agency.
Section 4.
The Agency’s authorization to deliver any instruments, documents,
certificates, affidavits, returns and agreements with respect to the transfer pursuant to these
Resolutions is subject to and conditioned upon (i) the Company's payment in full to the Agency
of the transaction fee of the Agency, and (ii) the Company's payment in full of the fees and
expenses of the Agency’s legal counsel.
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Section 5.
The Agency hereby acknowledges and confirms that, upon the conclusion
of the Transaction, the IDA Documents shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with
their respective terms and conditions.

R

Section 6.
The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized
and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required
and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay all such fees,
charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may be necessary or, in the
opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of
the foregoing resolutions and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants
and provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency. All acts heretofore
taken by the Agency with respect to the subject matter of the foregoing resolutions are hereby
approved, ratified and confirmed.

D

Section 7.
No additional Financial Assistance (as defined in the Project Agreement)
is being provided to either the Company.
Section 8.

These Resolutions shall take effect immediately.
[The Balance of This Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
) ss:
)

I, the undersigned, Secretary of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency, DO
HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of minutes of the meeting of the New Rochelle
Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), including the resolutions contained therein, held
on March 24, 2021, with the original thereof on file in the Agency's office, and that the same is a
true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such resolutions set forth therein
and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to the subject matters therein
referred to.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting,
that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public
Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the general public, and that public
notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Article 7.
I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present
throughout said meeting.
I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolutions are in full
force and effect and have not been amended, repealed or modified.

D

R

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said
Agency this ___ day of _________________, 2021.

Secretary
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Schedule A
UPDATED LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF FACILITY
ALL that certain plot, piece or parcel of land, with the buildings and improvements thereon
erected, situate, lying and being in the City of New Rochelle, County of Westchester and State of
New York, known and designated as Lot No.’s 15, 16 and 17 on a certain map entitled “Survey
of Building Lots owned by Henry B. Downey, situated in The Village of New Rochelle,
Westchester County, N.Y.” dated May, 1891, made by Oliver A. Hyatt and filed in Westchester
County Registers Office, Division of Land Records, on August 15, 1891, in Volume 9 of Maps at
page 41, said lots when taken together are more particularly described as follows:
BEGINNING at a point formed by the intersection of the northerly side of Burling Lane and the
easterly side of May Street,

AF
T

RUNNING THENCE along the easterly side of May Street North 07 degrees 03 minutes 13
seconds West a distance of 100.40 feet to the division line between Lot 17 and Lot 14 on
aforesaid Filed Map;
THENCE along said division line North 83 degrees 13 minutes 03 seconds East a distance of
108.41 feet to a point marking the northeast corner of Lot 15;

R

THENCE along the easterly boundary of Lots 1, 2 and 3 South 16 degrees 23 minutes 44
seconds East a distance of 102.15 feet to a point along the northerly side of Burling Lane;
THENCE along the northerly side of Burling Lane South 83 degrees 21 minutes 45 seconds
West a distance of 125.00 feet to the point or place of BEGINNING.

D

EASEMENT – PAVLIC TO JACLAIRE INC.
ALL that certain plot, piece or parcel of land situate, lying and being in the City of New
Rochelle, County of Westchester and State of New York, known and designated as a portion of
Lot No. 16 on a certain map entitled “Survey of Building Lots owned by Henry B. Downey”, and
filed in Westchester County Registers Office, Division of Land Records, on August 15, 1891, in
Volume 9 of Maps at page 41, being more particularly described as follows:
BEGINNING at a point on the northerly side of Lot No. 16 which point being North 83 degrees
13 minutes 03 seconds East a distance of 13.20 feet from the northwest corner of Lot 16 as
shown on the aforesaid map;
RUNNING THENCE on a course North 83 degrees 13 minutes 03 seconds East a distance of
21.80 feet to the northeast corner of the land now or formerly of Pavlic;
RUNNING THENCE on a course South 09 degrees 53 minutes 51 seconds East a distance of
1.08 feet;
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RUNNING THENCE through Lot 16 on a course South 83 degrees 13 minutes 03 seconds West
a distance of 21.86 feet and North 06 degrees 46 minutes 57 seconds West a distance of 1.08 feet
to the point or place of BEGINNING.
SAID premises being along the northerly portion of Tax Lot 4, Block 1206, Section 4 on the
official Tax Map of the City of New Rochelle.
SAID easement being the same as described in “AGREEMENT” filed in the Westchester County
Clerk’s Office, Division of Land Records in Liber 10073 Page 307.
EASEMENT, THE MILLENNIA NR LLC TO THE RESIDENCE NR LLC AND THE
LUXURIA NR LLC
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As per a “Parking Easement” dated January , 2019, the subject premises are benefitted by an
easement to park up to 40 passenger vehicles in unassigned parking spaces on the property of
The Millennia NR LLC, (the burdened property), which easement also benefits The Luxuria NR
LLC property allowing The Luxuria NR LLC to park up to 12 passenger vehicles in unassigned
parking spaces on The Millennia NR LLC property.
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JAMES MARSICO, PLLC
Attorney at Law
2500 Westchester Avenue, Suite 109
Purchase, New York 10577
Telephone.: (914) 313-5298

Facsimile: (347) 767-5524

March 15, 2021
candreucci@HarrisBeach.com
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Via email:

Christopher A. Andreucci, Esq.
Harris Beach, PLLC
Attorneys at Law
99 Garnsey Road
Pittsford, NY 14534

The Residence NR LLC

R

Re:

Dear Mr, Andreucci:

D

The Principals of The Residence NR LLC (“the Company”): Anthony J. Hammel and
William J. Hammel, would like to transfer their respective ownership interests in the Company
The Anthony J. Hammel Family Trust and the William J. Hammel Family Trust.
Pursuant to The Leaseback Agreement, Paragraph 6.3, the Company must notify the
NRIDA in writing for approval of the transfer.
Does this letter to your office suffice as the required written notice requesting approval,
or should I send the written request to someone at the NRIDA directly?
Thank you.
Very truly yours,

James Marsico
James Marsico
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"),
held at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day of March,
2021, the following members of the Agency were:
Present:
Absent:
Recused:
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Also Present:

After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to
approval of the report of the annual audit of the Agency’s financial statements and the
authorization of the submission and distribution of the annual report in accordance with the
requirements of the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005.

R

The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:
Voting Nay

D

Voting Aye
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RESOLUTION OF THE NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY APPROVING THE ANNUAL
AUDIT REPORT OF THE AGENCY’S
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION
AND DISTRIBUTION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PAAA

AF
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WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of
New York, as amended, and Chapter 785 of the Laws of 1976 of the State of New York, as
amended (collectively, the "Act"), the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the
"Agency") was created with the authority and power, among other things, to promote,
develop, encourage and assist in the acquisition, construction, improvement, maintenance,
equipping and furnishing of certain industrial, manufacturing, warehousing, commercial,
research, civic and recreation facilities as authorized by the Act in order to promote and
maintain the job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the
citizens of the City of New Rochelle, New York and of the State of New York and to
improve their standard of living; and
WHEREAS, the New York State Legislature adopted the Public Authorities
Accountability Act of 2005, as amended (the "PAAA"), designed to ensure that New York’s
public authorities operate more efficiently, more openly, and with greater accountability; and
WHEREAS, the PAAA requires that the Agency prepare and submit an annual report
in the form, substance and manner as prescribed in the PAAA (the "Annual Report"); and
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WHEREAS, the Agency has heretofore retained the certified public accounting firm
of PKF O’Connor Davies (the "Accountants") to audit the financial statements of the Agency
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020; and
WHEREAS, the Accountants have completed such audit and have issued their report
thereon, dated [_______________], 2021 (the "Audit Report"), a copy of which is attached
hereto and made a part hereof; and
WHEREAS, to carry out the aforesaid purposes, the Agency has the power under the
Act to do all things necessary to fulfill its obligations imposed by the Act and the PAAA.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Agency as follows:
Section 1.
fiscal year 2020.

The Agency hereby accepts and approves the Audit Report for the

Section 2.
The Executive Director of the Agency is hereby authorized and
directed to submit and distribute the Annual Report in accordance with the requirements of
the Act and the PAAA.
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Section 3.
The Agency hereby authorizes and directs the Executive Director of
the Agency to comply with all other provisions of the PAAA applicable to the Annual Report
as diligently as possible, including making such changes thereto as the Executive Director
determines to be appropriate or necessary in order to comply with the Act and/or the PAAA.
Section 4.
The Agency is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or
appropriate for the accomplishment of the purposes of this resolution, and all acts heretofore
taken by the Agency with respect to such increase in the project fee are hereby approved,
ratified and confirmed.
Section 5.

This resolution shall take effect immediately.
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[The Balance of This Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency,
DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), including the resolutions contained
therein, held on the 24th day of March, 2021, with the original thereof on file in my office,
and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such
resolutions set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to
the subject matters therein referred to.

2021.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was
duly given to the public and the news media in accordance with the New York Open
Meetings Law, constituting Chapter 511 of the Laws of 1976 of the State of New York, as
amended, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting and that said
meeting was in all respects duly held.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as of the ___ day of March,
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By:_______________________________________
Secretary
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Exhibit A
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AUDIT REPORT
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New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the
City of New Rochelle, New York)
Financial Statements
and Supplementary Information
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Year Ended December 31, 2020
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
Report on the Financial Statements
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the New Rochelle Industrial Development
Agency (“Agency”), a discretely presented component unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York, as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Agency’s financial statements as listed in the table of contents. The financial
statements of the Agency as of December 31, 2019, were audited by other auditors whose report dated
March 19, 2020 expressed an unmodified opinion.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

R

Auditors’ Responsibility

D

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Agency’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Agency’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the Agency, as of December 31, 2020 and the respective changes in
financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Emphasis of Matters
As discussed in Note 4 in the notes to financial statements, on March 11, 2020, the World Health
Organization declared a global pandemic as a result of the spread of COVID-19 (“Coronavirus”). Our
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

R

Supplementary Information

AF
T

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial statements
in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the financial statements and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of
the financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.
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Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statement that
collectively comprise the Agency’s financial statements. The schedule of budget with actual is presented
for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such
information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March XX, 2021
on our consideration of the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is to solely describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Agency’s
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.
PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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NEW ROCHELLE - INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the year ended December 31, 2020

The following is a discussion and analysis of the New Rochelle - Industrial Development Agency
(“IDA”) financial performance for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. The section is a summary
of the IDA’s financial activities based on currently known facts, decisions, or conditions. This section is
only an introduction and should be read in conjunction with the IDA’s financial statements, which
immediately follow this section.
Organization

AF
T

The New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency is a public benefit corporation created in 1977
pursuant to Section 908-b of the New York State General Municipal Law. Its seven-member
governing board is appointed by the New Rochelle City Council to indefinite terms. Presently, a
member of the New Rochelle City Council serves as the IDA's Vice Chair and the City Manager of the
City of New Rochelle serves as the IDA's Chair. A representative from the New Rochelle School
District serves on the board as well as four other residents of the City of New Rochelle.
The IDA is a separate entity and operates independently from the City of New Rochelle. However,
because the City appoints its board of directors, the IDA is financially accountable to the City and is also
included in the City's financial statements as a component unit.
Financial Highlights

R



During the current year of operations, the Agency’s net position decreased by $36,321.
Total revenues for the fiscal year 2020 were $813,880 an increase of $251,048 or
44.6%.
Total expenses for fiscal year 2020 were $850,201, a decrease of $315,483 or 27.1%
from the prioryear.

D




Overview of the Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include the statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses
and changes in net position, statement of cash flows, and notes to the financial statements. The IDA
also includes in this report additional information to supplement the basic financial statements.
The first of these statements is the Statement of Net Position. This is the statement of financial position
presenting information that includes all of the IDA’s assets and liabilities, with the difference reported as
net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of
whether the financial position of the IDA as a whole is improving or deteriorating. Evaluation of the
overall economic health of the IDA must include other non-financial factors such as the economic
picture of the City and the State, in addition to the financial information provided in this report.
The second statement is the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, which
reports how the IDA’s net position changed during the current and previous fiscal period. Revenues and
expenses are included when earned or incurred, regardless of when cash is received or paid.
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The third statement is the Statement of Cash Flows, which shows the sources and uses of cash.
The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements provide information essential to a full
understanding of the financial statements.
Below is a summary of the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Position for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Summary of Net Position

2020
$

Current assets
Total assets

2019

750,851

$

729,243

$

Total liabilities

$

21,608

3.0%

729,243

21,608

3.0%

99,561

41,632

57,929

139.1%

57,929

139.1%

99,561

Net position:
Unrestricted

Percent
Change

750,851

AF
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Current liabilities

Dollar
Change

651,290

41,632

$

687,611

$

(36,321)

-5.3%

Summary of Changes in Net Position
Fiscal Year

R

2020

D

Revenues:
Charges for services
Application fees
Service income
Miscellaneous income
Interest income
Total revenues

$

$

Expenses:
Personnel services and benefits
Professional services
Memberships and subscriptions
Advertising
Miscellaneous expenses
Job Training
Other
Total expenses
Change in net position

748,821
3,600
47,500
13,255
704
813,880

$

$

201,734
68,019
850
6,741
509
346,344
226,004
850,201
$

(36,321)

Dollar
Change

2019

512,250
6,600
37,000
4,972
2,010
562,832

$

$

201,734
72,269
21,200
398,283
6,198
250,000
216,000
1,165,684
$

(602,852)

$

236,571
(3,000)
10,500
8,283
(1,306)
251,048

Percent
Change

$

46.2%
-45.5%
28.4%
166.6%
-65.0%
0

(4,250)
(20,350)
(391,542)
(5,689)
96,344
10,004
(315,483)

0.0%
-5.9%
-96.0%
-98.3%
-91.8%
38.5%
4.6%
-27.1%

566,531

-94.0%
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During 2020, seventeen total transactions were consummated, seven of which constituted a closing of
an approved project: BRP 10 Commerce, LLC; New Rochelle Birch Development, LLC; CH New
Rochelle, LLC; WBLM 25 Maple Owner, LLC; MJ Garden, LLC; Georgica Green Ventures, LLC; and
Lincoln Renaissance, LLC. The remaining ten constituted smaller transactions such as terminations
and refinancing transactions. Of the seven projects that closed in 2020, two were approved in 2018,
two were approved in 2019, and three were approved in 2020. All seventeen projects resulted in a
total transaction fee of $748,821 in 2020. Five additional projects are anticipated to close in 2021 with
an estimated transaction fee of $509,937, which constitutes a 40% split of the transaction fee with the
Corporation for Local Development, pursuant to the adoption of the Unified Joint Application and fee
schedule. The net impact of the projects that closed in 2020 is an increase of $236,571 from the prior
year total. Annual service, application and other fees increased by $15,783 while interest income
decreased slightly from the prior year by $1,306.
Budgetary Highlights

AF
T

The IDA adopts an annual budget and reports the results of operations on a budgetary comparison
basis.
In preparing its budget, the IDA attempts to estimate its revenues using realistic, but conservative,
methods so as to budget its expenditure appropriations and activities in a prudent manner. The original
FY 2020 budget anticipated the completion of six new transactions at estimated transaction fees of
$627,978. Seventeen transactions, including smaller transactions such as refinancing and terminations,
were concluded in 2020 generating transaction fees of $748,821, with five additional projects
anticipated to close in 2021 with an estimated transaction fee of approximately $509,937.
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The adopted FY 2020 budget anticipated a deficiency of $370,974 to the fund balance to finance
estimated expenditures of $1,050,552. Actual expenditures were $200,351 or 19.07% less than
budget. Actual Revenues were $135,598 or 20.0% greater than budget. The fund balance in FY 2020
decreased minimally by $36,321, available reserves for future years from $687,611 to $651,290.
Economic Factors

The IDA will continue to look for funding opportunities to further its mission of promoting local
development. Each year, the IDA will evaluate opportunities for investment of its resources in furthering
this mission.
Contacting Administration
This financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a
general overview of the IDA’s finances and to show the accountability for the money received. If you
have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the New Rochelle
Industrial Development Agency’s Board at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York.

61

City of New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Net Position
December 31,
2020
ASSETS
Cash and equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expense

$

723,520
26,970
361

Total Assets

$

750,851

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

$

99,561

NET POSITION
Unrestricted

AF
T

651,290
$

750,851

D

R

Total Liabilities and Net Position

See notes to financial statements
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City of New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Year Ended December 31,
2020
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Application fees
Service income
Miscellaneous income

$

748,821
3,600
47,500
13,255
813,176

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel services and benefits
Professional services
Memberships and subscriptions
Advertising
Miscellaneous expenses
Job training
Other

201,734
68,019
850
6,741
509
346,344
226,004

Total Operating Expenses
Loss from Operations

850,201
(37,025)

704

R

NON-OPERATING REVENUES
Interest income

AF
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Total Operating Revenues

Change in Net Position

D

NET POSITION
Beginning of year
Ending of year

(36,321)

687,611
$

651,290

See notes to financial statements
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City of New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31,
2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from charges for services and fees
Cash paid for personal services and fringe benefits
Cash paid for administrative costs

$

Net Cash from Operating Activities

805,676
(201,734)
(590,538)
13,404

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income

704

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of Year
End of Year

AF
T

Net Change in Cash and Equivalents

R

RECONCILIATION OF LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss from operations
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

D

Net Cash From Operating Activities

14,108

709,412
$

723,520

$

(37,025)
(7,500)
98,214
(40,285)

$

13,404

See notes to financial statements
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New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2020
Note 1 - Organization and Purpose
The New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency ("Agency"), a corporate governmental agency
constituting a public benefit corporation, was created to assist the City of New Rochelle, New York (“City”)
in financing projects within the City limits that would enhance the social and economic fabric of the City.
Although members of the Agency are appointed by the City Council, the Agency members have complete
responsibility for management of the Agency and accountability for all fiscal matters. The Agency is
governed by Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New York. The Agency is exempt
from Federal, State and Local income taxes.
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A.

Financial Reporting Entity

B.

Basis of Accounting

AF
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The Agency has been identified as an organization related to the City. In accordance with the
criteria enumerated in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 61, the
Agency’s financial statements have been discretely presented in the City’s financial statements.

R

The financial statements of the Agency have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. GASB is
the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. The Agency reports its operations on the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time
liabilities are incurred.

D

The Agency distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the Agency’s
principal ongoing operation. The principle operating revenue of the Agency is rental of real property
and administration fees. Operating expenses include personnel services and benefits, professional
fees and planning services. All revenue and expenses not meeting the definition are reported as
non-operating revenues and expenses.
C.

Assets and Net Position
Cash and Equivalents, Investments and Risk Disclosure
Cash and Equivalents - Cash and equivalents consist of funds deposited in demand
deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and short-term investments with original maturities
of less than three months from the date of acquisition.
The Agency’s deposits and investment policies are governed by State statutes. The
Agency has adopted its own written investment policy which provides for the deposit of
funds in FDIC insured commercial banks or trust companies located within the State. The
Agency is authorized to use demand deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and
certificates of deposit.
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New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Collateral is required for demand deposit accounts, time deposit accounts and certificates
of deposit at 100% of all deposits not covered by Federal deposit insurance. The Agency
has entered into custodial agreements with the various banks which hold their deposits.
These agreements authorize the obligations that may be pledged as collateral. Such
obligations include, among other instruments, obligations of the United States and its
agencies and obligations of the State and its municipal and school district subdivisions.
Investments - Permissible investments include obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S.
Agencies, repurchase agreements and obligations of New York State or its political
subdivisions.

Risk Disclosure

AF
T

The Agency follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 72, “Fair Value Measurements
and Application”, which defines fair value and establishes a fair value hierarchy organized
into three levels based upon the input assumptions used in pricing assets. Level 1 inputs
have the highest reliability and are related to assets with unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets. Level 2 inputs relate to assets with other than quoted prices in active
markets which may include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or other inputs
which can be corroborated by observable market data. Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs and are used to the extent that observable inputs do not exist.

D
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Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the government will incur
losses in fair value caused by changing interest rates. The Agency does not have a
formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing
its exposure to fair value losses arising from changing interest rates. Generally, the
Agency does not invest in any long-term investment obligations.
Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank
failure, the Agency’s deposits may not be returned to it. GASB Statement No. 40,
“Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures – an amendment of GASB Statement No.
3”, directs that deposits be disclosed as exposed to custodial credit risk if they are
not covered by depository insurance and the deposits are either uncollateralized,
collateralized by securities held by the pledging financial institution or collateralized
by securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department but not in
the Agency’s name. The Agency’s aggregate bank balances that were not covered
by depository insurance were not exposed to custodial credit risk at December 31,
2020.
Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty will not fulfill
its specific obligation even without the entity’s complete failure. The Agency does
not have a formal credit risk policy other than restrictions to obligations allowable
under General Municipal Law of the State of New York.
Concentration of Credit Risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk attributed to
the magnitude of a government’s investments in a single issuer. The Agency’s
investment policy limits the amount on deposit at each of its banking institutions.
66

New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2020
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Net Position - represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources less
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Net position is comprised of three components: net
investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted.
Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation/amortization and reduced by outstanding balances of bonds and other debt that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets or related debt are also included in this component of net position.
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Restricted net position consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources related to those assets. Assets are reported as restricted when constraints are placed on
asset use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the Agency or through external
restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments.
Unrestricted net position is the net amount of the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities,
and deferred inflows of resources that does not meet the definition of the two preceding categories.
D.

Use of Estimates

E.

D
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The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates, particularly given the
significant social and economic disruptions and uncertainties associated with the ongoing COVID19 (“Coronavirus”) pandemic and the mitigation responses, and such differences may be material
(see Note 4).
Subsequent Events Evaluation by Management
Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and/or recognition in the financial
statements through the date that the financial statements were available to be issued, which date is
March XX, 2021.
Note 3 - Conduit Debt Obligations, Revenue Bonds and Note Transactions
The Agency has issued Revenue Bonds to local non-profit organizations, which provides the
organizations the opportunity to utilize tax-exempt financing for eligible projects. These bonds are
secured by the property financed and are payable solely from payments received on the underlying
mortgage loans. Upon repayment of the bonds, ownership of the facilities transfers to the non-profit
organization serviced by the bond issuance.
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New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Notes to Financial Statements (Concluded)
December 31, 2020
Note 3 - Conduit Debt Obligations, Revenue Bonds and Note Transactions (Continued)
Neither the Agency or the City of New Rochelle, New York is obligated in any manner for repayment of
the bonds. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial
statements. As of December 31, 2020, there were two series of Revenue Bonds outstanding, with an
aggregate principal amount payable of $32,723,433.
Note 4 - Contingencies
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On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic as a result of the
spread of COVID-19 (“Coronavirus”). The pandemic has resulted in substantial economic volatility on a
global scale. Given the uncertainty around the extent and timing of the potential future spread or
mitigation of the coronavirus and around the imposition or relaxation of protective measures,
management cannot reasonably estimate the impact to future results of operations, cash flows, or
financial condition.

D

R

*****
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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City of New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
(A Discretely Presented Component Unit of the City of New Rochelle, New York)
Schedule of Budget with Actual Operating Amounts
Year Ended December 31, 2020

Original Budget
OPERATING REVENUE
Charges for services
Application fees
Service income
Miscellaneous income

$

627,978
3,600
46,000
-

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel services and benefits
Professional services
Memberships and subscriptions
Office supplies
Advertising
Travel and conferences
Miscellaneous expenses
Job training
Other
Total Operating Expenses
Loss from Operations

627,978
3,600
46,000
-

$

NET POSITION
Beginning of Year

$

$

120,843
1,500
13,255

677,578

813,176

135,598

203,000
132,000
22,940
1,000
63,952
5,100
1,000
350,000
271,560

203,000
152,000
2,940
1,000
63,952
5,100
1,000
350,000
271,560

201,734
68,019
850
6,741
509
346,344
226,004

1,266
83,981
2,090
1,000
57,211
5,100
491
3,656
45,556

1,050,552

1,050,552

850,201

200,351

(37,025)

335,949
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Deficiency of revenues over expenses

748,821
3,600
47,500
13,255

677,578

(372,974)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSE)
Interest income

End of Year

$

Actual

AF
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Total Revenues

Final Budget

Variance
Favorable
(Unfavorable)

(372,974)

2,000

2,000

704

(1,296)

(370,974)

(370,974)

(36,321)

334,653

370,974

370,974

687,611

316,637

-

$

-

$

651,290

$

651,290

See independent auditor's report
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance
With Government Auditing Standards
Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
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We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the City of New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”), a discretely presented component unit of the City of
New Rochelle, New York as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Agency’s financial statements, and have issued our
report thereon dated March XX, 2021.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

R

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Agency's internal
control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control. Accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control.

D

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Agency's financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report

D

R

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Agency’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Agency’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
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We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the City of New Rochelle
Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Agency’s basic financial
statements and have issued our report thereon dated March ___, 2021, which expresses an unmodified
opinion.

R

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the IDA failed to
comply with the Agency’s Investment Guidelines, the New York State (“NYS”) Comptroller’s Investment
Guidelines, Section 2925 of the NYS Public Authorities Law and Section 201.3 of the NYS Public
Authorities Law (collectively, the “Investment Guidelines”), insofar as they relate to accounting matters.
However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.
Accordingly, had we performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our attention
regarding the Agency’s noncompliance with the Investment Guidelines, insofar as they relate to accounting
matters.

D

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the members of the board of directors,
management of the Agency, and the Office of the New York State Comptroller and is not intended to be
and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP
Harrison, New York
March XX, 2021
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"),
held at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day of March,
2021, the following members of the Agency were:
Present:
Absent:
Recused:
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Also Present:
After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to the
re-adoption of certain related policies of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
necessary to implement the provisions of the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005,
as amended and the "Act" (as hereinafter defined), as amended.

R

The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:
Voting Nay

D

Voting Aye
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RESOLUTION OF THE NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT
AGENCY RE-ADOPTING CERTAIN RELATED POLICIES (AS DEFINED BELOW) OF
THE NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY NECESSARY TO
IMPLEMENT THE PROVISIONS OF THE PAAA AND THE ACT
WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of
New York, as amended, and Chapter 785 of the Laws of 1976 of the State of New York, as
amended (collectively, the "Act"), the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the
"Agency") was created with the authority and power, among other things, to promote,
develop, encourage and assist in the acquisition, construction, improvement, maintenance,
equipping and furnishing of certain industrial, manufacturing, warehousing, commercial,
research and recreation facilities as authorized by the Act in order to promote and maintain
the job opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the citizens of the
City of New Rochelle, New York and of the State of New York and to improve their standard
of living; and
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WHEREAS, the New York State Legislature adopted the Public Authorities
Accountability Act of 2005, as amended (the "PAAA"), designed to ensure that New York’s
public authorities operate more efficiently, more openly, and with greater accountability; and
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WHEREAS, the PAAA requires that the Agency adopt policies to comply with the
provisions of the PAAA including: a Property Disposition Policy (the "Property Disposition
Policy"); a Code of Ethics including Whistleblower Protection Policy (the "Code of
Ethics"); an Investment Policy (the "Investment Policy"); a Real Property Acquisition
Policy (the "Real Property Acquisition Policy"); a Defense and Indemnification Policy (the
"Defense and Indemnification Policy"); a Travel Policy and Discretionary Funds Policy
(the "Travel and Discretionary Funds Policy"); a Procurement Policy (the "Procurement
Policy"); and a Compensation, Reimbursement and Attendance Policy (the "Compensation,
Reimbursement and Attendance Policy", and all the foregoing policies are collectively
referred to herein as the "Related Policies"); and
WHEREAS, the Agency duly adopted the Related Policies, with the exception of the
Whistleblower Protection Policy, at its meeting on April 27, 2016, and subsequently adopted
its Whistleblower Protection Policy on March 29, 2017; and
WHEREAS, the PAAA requires that the Agency adopt and/or re-adopt its Related
Policies annually; and
WHEREAS, to carry out the aforesaid purposes, the Agency has the power under the
Act to do all things necessary to fulfill its obligations imposed by the Act and the PAAA.
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NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Agency as follows:
The Agency hereby finds and determines:
By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary and
convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise
all powers granted to it under the Act; and
Re-adopting the Related Policies will allow the Agency to continue to operate in
compliance with the Act and in compliance with the PAAA, and cause the Agency to operate
more efficiently, openly and with greater accountability to the residents of the City of New
Rochelle.

R
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In consequence of the foregoing, the Agency hereby determines to re-adopt (i) the
Procurement Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A and made a part hereof;
(ii) the Code of Ethics including Whistleblower Protection Policy, a copy of which is
attached hereto as Exhibit B and made a part hereof; (iii) the Investment Policy, a copy of
which is attached hereto as Exhibit C and made a part hereof; (iv) the Assessment of
Effectiveness of Internal Financial Controls Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as
Exhibit D and made a part hereof; (v) the Real Property Acquisition Policy, a copy of which
is attached hereto as Exhibit E and made a part hereof; (vi) the Defense and Indemnification
Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit F and made a part hereof; (vii) the
Travel Policy and Discretionary Funds Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit
G and made a part hereof; (viii) the Property Disposition Guidelines, a copy of which is
attached hereto as Exhibit H and made a part hereof; and (viii) the Compensation,
Reimbursement and Attendance Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit I and
made a part hereof.

D

The Agency is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or appropriate for the
accomplishment of the purposes of this resolution, and all acts heretofore taken by the
Agency with respect to such activities are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
This resolution shall take effect immediately.
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency,
DO HEREBY CERTIFY:
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That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), including the resolutions contained
therein, held on the 24th day of March, 2021, with the original thereof on file in my office,
and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such
resolutions set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to
the subject matters therein referred to.
I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said
meeting, that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the
Public Officers Law ("Open Meetings Law") and pursuant to Governor Andrew Cuomo’s
Executive Orders (the "Executive Orders") authorizing the conduct of public meetings under
the Open Meetings Law through use of telephone conference, video conference and/or other
similar service, said meeting was open to the general public in accordance with the
requirements of the Executive Orders, and that public notice of the time and place of said
meeting was duly given in accordance with such Article 7.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency
present throughout said meeting.

D

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolutions are in full
force and effect and have not been amended, repealed or modified.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said
Agency this _____ day of March, 2021.
.
By:________________________________
Secretary
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NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
PROCUREMENT POLICY

Applicability - This Procurement Policy (“Policy”) shall apply to the New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”).

2.

Scope – In accordance with Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law
(the “GML”), Section 104-b of the GML, and the Public Authorities
Accountability Act of 2005, the Agency is required to adopt procurement
policies which will apply to the procurement of goods and services paid
for by the Agency for its own use and account.

3.

Purpose – Pursuant to Section 104-b of the GML, the primary objectives
of this Policy are to assure the prudent and economical use of public
monies in the best interests of the taxpayers of the City of New Rochelle,
to facilitate the acquisition of goods and services of maximum quality at
the lowest possible cost under the circumstances and to guard against
favoritism, improvidence, extravagance, fraud and corruption.

Procedures
1.
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1.

Solicitation Procedures for the Purchase of Commodities, Equipment,
Goods or Services.

R

B.

Introduction

a.

Up to $5,000 per instance – The discretion of the Chairperson or
Chief Executive Officer of the Agency or authorized designee.

b.

Greater than $5,000 to $20,000 per instance – Documented verbal
quotations or written/fax/email quotations from at least three (3)
vendors.

c.

Greater than $20,000 per instance – Written Request for Proposal.

d.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, should cumulative procurements
pursuant to paragraphs a or b above exceed $50,000 per calendar
year for a single vendor, the Agency shall be required to prepare a
Written Request for Proposal for such procurements.

D

A.

2.

Exceptions. Alternative proposals or quotations shall not be required for
procurements made through or with respect to:
a.

New York State, Westchester County or City of New Rochelle
Contracts – when the Agency is able to procure commodities,
equipment, goods or services through New York State,
Westchester County or City of New Rochelle contracts, it is
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unnecessary to obtain quotations or bids;
Procurements made by the City of New Rochelle on behalf of the
Agency in accordance with the City’s procurement policies and
procedures or made by the Agency in accordance with the City’s
procurement policies and procedures.

c.

State Finance Law Section 175-b (from agencies for the blind or
severely handicapped);

d.

Correction Law Section 186 (articles manufactured in correctional
institutions);

e.

Emergency Procurements – an emergency exists if the delay
caused by soliciting quotes would endanger health, welfare,
property or an economic development opportunity. Approval of
the Chief Executive Officer is necessary, which shall be
documented and shall also include a description of the facts giving
rise to the emergency.

f.

Sole Source Procurements – A “sole source” means a situation
where (i) there is only one possible source from which to produce
goods and/or services available in the marketplace, (ii) no other
goods and/or services provide substantially equivalent or similar
benefits, and (iii) considering the benefits, the cost to the Agency
is reasonable.

R
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b.

Utilities and Affiliate Transactions – The purchase of utilities and
inter-affiliate transactions are excepted from alternative
proposal/quotation requirements.

D

g.

3.

h.

Unavailability of three (3) vendors who are able or willing to
provide a quote.

i.

Professional services unless the Chairman or the Executive
Director determines that a written request for proposal may be in
the best interest of the Agency.

Basis for the Award of Contracts.
Contracts will be awarded to the lowest responsible dollar offeror who
meets the specifications therefor, except in circumstances that the Agency
determines justify an award to other than the lowest responsible dollar
offeror. In making any such determination, the Agency shall consider
relevant factors including, without limitation:
a.

Delivery requirements;

81

Quality requirements;

c.

Quantity requirements;

d.

Past vendor performance and/or experience;

e.

The unavailability of three or more vendors who are able or willing
to quote on a procurement;

f.

It may be in the best interests of the Agency to consider only one
vendor who has previous expertise with respect to a particular
procurement; and

g.

Any procurement excepted from the alternative proposal/quotation
requirements as set forth in subdivision 2 of this Section B, and the
procurement of professional services in Section C of this Policy.
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Documentation
a.

A record of all solicitations for alternative proposals or quotations,
the response (if applicable), and any determinations pursuant
thereto shall be maintained in the procurement file.

b.

For each procurement by the Agency the Chief Executive Officer
of the Agency or authorized designee shall set forth in writing the
category of procurement that is being made and what method of
procurement is specified.

R

4.

b.

Whenever an award is made to other than the lowest responsible
dollar offeror the reasons for doing so shall be set forth in writing
and maintained in the procurement file.

D

c.

d.

C.

Whenever the specified number of quotations cannot or will not be
secured, the reasons for this shall be indicated in writing and
maintained in the procurement file.

Professional Services.

Contracts for professional services involve the application of specialized
expertise, the use of professional judgment, or a high degree of creativity. Professional
services include services which require special education and/or training, license to
practice or are creative in nature. Examples are: lawyers, doctors, accountants, and
engineers. Furthermore, professional service contracts often involve a relationship of
personal trust and confidence.
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D.

Procurement Lobbying Law.

In accordance with Chapter 1 of the Laws of 2005, generally referred to as the
“Procurement Lobbying Law”, the Agency shall implement the provision of such
Procurement Lobbying Law for any contract or other agreement for an article of
procurement involving an estimated annualized expenditure in excess of $15,000.
E.

Unintentional Failure to Comply.

The unintentional failure to comply with the provisions of Section 104-b of the
GML shall not be grounds to void action taken or give rise to a cause of action against the
Agency or any officer thereof.
F. Approval and Reporting.
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To the extent that funds are available in the current year’s Budget adopted by the
Board, the Executive Director shall have the authority to procure commodities,
equipment, goods and services pursuant to the procedures set forth in this Policy and to
make payment for such procurements up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) in each
instance. Any procurement in excess of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) or not provided
for within the current year’s adopted Budget must be approved by the Board.
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To the extent that funds are available in the current year’s Budget adopted by the
Board, the Executive Director shall have the authority to (i) enter into an agreement with
the City of New Rochelle (the “City”) to be an additional beneficiary of goods or services
procured by the City and (ii) make payment to the City for the Corporation’s proportional
share of the cost, if required, in an amount not to exceed five thousand dollars
($5,000.00). Any such arrangements with the City that involve amounts in excess of five
thousand dollars ($5,000.00) or not provided for within the current year’s adopted Budget
must be approved by the Board.
The Executive Director shall provide monthly reports to the Board detailing the
procurements and payments to the City made pursuant to this Section F without Board
approval, if any, within the previous month.
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NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
CODE OF ETHICS
The members of the board (the “Board”) of the New Rochelle Industrial Development
Agency (the “Agency”), a duly established public benefit corporation of the State of New York
(the “State”), along with the officers and staff of the Agency, shall comply with and adhere to the
provisions of this Code of Ethics (“Code”) adopted pursuant to and in accordance Section 2824
of the Public Authorities Law and Article 18 of the General Municipal Law of the State.
ARTICLE I
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
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A conflict of interest is a situation in which the financial, familial, or personal interests of
a director, officer or employee come into “actual” or “perceived” conflict with their duties and
responsibilities with the Agency. “Perceived” conflicts of interest are situations where there is
the appearance that a director, officer or employee can personally benefit from actions or
decisions made in their official capacity, or where a director, officer or employee may be
influenced to act in a manner that does not represent the best interests of the Agency. The
perception of a conflict may occur if circumstances would suggest to a reasonable person that a
director, officer or employee may have a conflict. “Actual” conflicts of interest are situations
where a director, officer or employee can personally benefit from actions or decisions made in
their official capacity, or where a director, officer or employee is influenced to act in a manner
that does not represent the best interests of the Agency. Except for Prohibited Conflicts of
Interest as set forth in Article V herein, Perceived and Actual conflicts of interest should be
treated in the same manner for purposes of disclosure under Article IV herein.

R

ARTICLE II
STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

D

Each director, officer, and employee of the Agency shall: (1) not accept other
employment which will impair his or her independence of judgment in the exercise of his or her
official duties; (2) not accept employment or engage in any business or professional activity
which will require him or her to disclose confidential information which he or she has gained by
reason of his or her official position of authority; (3) not disclose confidential information
acquired by him or her in the course of his or her official duties nor use such information to
further his or her personal interests; (4) not use or attempt to use his or her official position to
secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions for himself, herself or others except that nothing
herein shall prohibit any business or enterprise in which such director, officer or employee may
have a financial interest from obtaining financial assistance provided that the Prohibited
Conflicts of Interest provisions of Article V herein are not violated; (5) not engage in any
transaction as a representative or agent of Agency with any business entity in which he or she
has a direct or indirect financial interest that might reasonably tend to conflict with proper
discharge of his or her official duties, except that nothing herein shall prohibit any business or
enterprise in which such director, officer or employee may have a financial interest from
obtaining financial assistance provided that the Prohibited Conflicts of Interest provisions of
Article V herein are not violated; (6) not, by his or her conduct, give reasonable basis for the
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impression that any person can improperly influence him or her or unduly enjoy his or her favor
in the performance of his or her official duties, or that he or she is affected by the kinship, rank,
position or influence of any party or person; (7) abstain from making personal investments in
enterprises which he or she has reason to believe may be directly involved in decisions to be
made by him or her or which will otherwise create substantial conflict between his or her duty in
the public interest and his or her private interest, except that nothing herein shall prohibit any
business or enterprise in which such director, officer or employee may have a financial interest
from obtaining financial assistance provided that the Prohibited Conflicts of Interest provisions
of Article V herein are not violated; and (8) endeavor to pursue a course of conduct which will
not raise suspicion among the public that he or she is likely to be engaged in acts that are in
violation of his or her trust. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, nothing shall
prohibit any director, officer or employee of the Agency from acquiring property adjacent to or
otherwise proximate to the lands in which the Agency has an ownership interest provided that
such acquisition is not based upon the use of confidential information obtained by such director,
officer or employee of the Agency in his capacity with the Agency as determined by such
member after consultation with Chairman of the Agency and Counsel to the Agency.
ARTICLE III
GIFTS

R

Pursuant to and in accordance with Section 805-a of the General Municipal Law, no
director, officer or employee of the Agency shall directly or indirectly, solicit any gift, or accept
or receive any gift having a value of seventy-five dollars or more under circumstances in which it
could reasonably be inferred that the gift was intended to influence such individual, or could
reasonably be expected to influence such individual, in the performance of the individual’s
official duties or was intended as a reward for any official action on the individual’s part.
Inferences that gifts having a value of less than seventy-five dollars can influence or reward
directors, officers or employees of the Agency is deemed to be unreasonable.

D

ARTICLE IV
PROCEDURES FOR DISCLOSURE

Except for Prohibited Conflicts of Interest as set forth in Article V below, all directors,
officers or employees of the Agency shall adhere to the following procedures:
1. All directors, officers and employees shall examine their specific facts and
circumstances giving rise to the question of a conflict in order to determine (i) whether such
director, officer or employee can personally benefit from the actions or decisions made in their
official capacity, or where a director, officer or employee is influenced to act in a manner that
does not represent the best interests of the Agency (i.e. Actual Conflict) or (ii) whether a
reasonable person would conclude that such director, officer or employee may have a conflict
(i.e. Perceived Conflict). In determining whether reasonable person would conclude that there is
a conflict, such director, officer or employee must assess the materiality within the context of the
specific facts and circumstances. Provided that the event giving rise to the question of a conflict
is material within the context of the specific facts and circumstances, then it would be reasonable
for a person to conclude that there may be a conflict.
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2. All Actual and Perceived conflicts of interest shall be disclosed in writing to the Ethics
Officer as soon as practicable after learning of the Actual or Perceived conflict of interest. The
written disclosure must (i) identify the matter before the Agency, (ii) identify the Standard of
Conduct in question and (iii) contain sufficient facts and circumstances in order to accurately
convey the extent of the director’s, officer’s or employee’s interest in such matter. In addition, in
the event a director on the board of the Agency has a conflict, he or she shall verbally disclose
the conflict during a public session of a board meeting at which the matter creating the conflict
appears on the agenda. Such verbal disclosure shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting
and be made part of the public record.
3. The director, officer or employee with the conflict of interest shall refrain from
participating in discussions or decisions on the matter creating the conflict. In addition, in the
event a director on the board of the Agency has a conflict, he or she shall recuse him or herself
from any deliberations and abstain from voting on such matter creating the conflict.
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4. The director, officer or employee with the conflict of interest shall refrain from directly
or indirectly attempting to influence the discussions, decisions, deliberations or vote on the
matter giving rise to such conflict.

ARTICLE V
PROHIBITED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

R

General Municipal Law (“GML”) Article 18 regulates financial conflicts of interest of
directors, officers and employees of the Agency. Therefore, notwithstanding any other provision
contained in this Policy, financial conflicts of interest shall be governed solely by this Article V.

D

Prohibition: No director, officer or employee shall have a direct or indirect financial
interest in a contract with the Agency where such director, officer or employee has some form of
control over the contract (“Prohibited Interest”).
No Cure: Disclosure and recusal will not cure a Prohibited Interest. In order to avoid a
violation of a “Prohibited Interest” the contract may not be acted upon or the director, officer or
employee would have to resign.
Violations: Any director, officer or employee who is determined to have “willfully and
knowingly” violated the Prohibited Interest provisions of Article 18 of the GML may be found
guilty of a misdemeanor. In addition, the contract, if willfully entered into, may be determined
“null, void and wholly unenforceable”
Exceptions: Article 18 of the GML provides fifteen exceptions to the Prohibited Interest
provision. One of the more commonly claimed exceptions comes into play when the director,
officer or employees (“officials”) interest in the contract is prohibited solely by reason of the
official’s employment with the entity that has the contract with the Agency. This exception
applies provided: (a) the official’s compensation from the private employer is not contingent
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upon the contract between the employer and the Agency and (b) the official’s duties for the
private employer do not directly involve the procurement, preparation or performance of any part
of the contract. [Note: This exception does not cover an Agency official who is a director,
partner, member, or shareholder of the private employer]. The second most commonly claimed
exception is where the official has an interest in a contract that was entered into with the Agency
prior to the time the official was elected or appointed as such director, officer or employee of the
Agency. Provided, however, this exception does not authorize the renewal of any such contract.

Disclosure of Exception: Disclosure of Interest that falls within one of the Exceptions:
The official is required to publicly disclose the nature and extent of his or her prospective,
existing or subsequently acquired interest in any actual or proposed contract. The disclosure
must be made in writing and must be placed, in its entirety, in the official record. The official
must recuse him or herself from participating in any discussion or action on the contract.
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Notification of Potential Conflict due to a Financial Interest: Every director, officer or
employee shall immediately notify the Agency’s Ethics Officer of any potential conflict of
interest due to a direct or indirect financial interest in any matter coming before the Agency
where such director, officer or employee has the power or duty to negotiate, prepare, authorize or
approve the matter before the Agency. The Ethics Officer shall review the potential financial
conflict of interest pursuant to the provisions of Article 18 of the GML in consultation with
Agency counsel.
ARTICLE VI
PENALTIES
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Any employee that fails to comply with this Policy may be subject to termination. In
addition, any director, officer or employee that fails to comply with this Policy may be penalized
in a manner provided for in law.
ARTICLE VII
ETHICS OFFICER

The Agency’s Board shall designate an officer, director or employee of the Agency to
serve as the Ethics Officer of the Agency. In the event of a vacancy, the Agency Board Chair
shall serve as the Ethics Officer until such time as the Agency Board appoints a successor.
The Ethics Officer shall report to the Governance Committee. The Ethics Officer shall
have the powers and duties set forth below, and such other powers and duties as may be
prescribed by the Board:
1.
Advise in confidence each director, officer or employee of the Agency who seeks
guidance regarding ethical behavior.
2.

Receive and record disclosures of conflicts of interest in the record of the Agency.
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3.
Ethics.
4.
the Board.
5.

Receive and investigate complaints about possible violations of this Code of
Dismiss complaints found to be without substance.
Prepare investigative reports of his or her findings to be submitted for action by

Seek consultation and guidance from Agency Counsel.

ARTICLE VII
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY

D
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In accordance with Title 12 of Article 9 of the Public Authorities Law, the Agency
adopted a Whistleblower Policy to afford certain protections to individuals who, in good faith,
report violations of the Agency’s Code of Ethics or other instances of potential wrongdoing
within the Agency. This Policy provides Agency directors, officers, and employees with a
confidential means to report credible allegations of misconduct, wrongdoing, or unethical
behavior and to protect those individuals, when acting in good faith, from personal or
professional retaliation. The Whistleblower Policy is available to all directors, officers, and
employees of the Agency.
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Investment Policy
This Investment Policy of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”)
shall apply to all operating funds, bond proceeds and other funds and all investment transactions
involving operating funds, bond proceeds and other funds accounted for in the financial statements of
the Agency. Each investment made pursuant to this Investment Policy must be authorized by applicable
law and this written Investment Policy. This Investment Policy is intended to comply with the General
Municipal Law of New York, the Public Authorities Law of New York, and any other applicable laws of
New York State. This Policy shall be reviewed and approved annually.
Delegation of Authority
The responsibility for conducting investment transactions involving the Agency resides with the
Executive Director/Chief Financial Officer of the Agency under the direction and oversight of the
Treasurer of the Agency. Only the Executive Director/Chief Financial Officer and those authorized by
resolution or the Agency’s By-laws may invest public funds.
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All contracts or agreements with outside persons investing public funds, advising on the
investment of public funds, directing the deposit of public funds or acting in a fiduciary capacity for the
Agency, shall require the outside person to notify the Agency in writing, within thirty (30) days of
receipt of all communication from its auditor of the outside person or any regulatory authority, of the
existence of material weakness in the internal control structure of the outside person or regulatory orders
or sanctions regarding the type of services being provided to the Agency by the outside person.
The records of investment transactions made by or on behalf of the Agency are public records
and are the property of the Agency whether in the custody of the Agency or in the custody of a fiduciary
or other third party.
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The Executive Director/Chief Financial Officer of the Agency under the direction and oversight
of the Treasurer shall establish a written system of internal controls and investment practices. The
controls shall be designed to prevent losses of public funds, to document those officers and employees
of the Agency responsible for elements of the investment process and to address the capability of
investment management. The controls shall provide for receipt and review of the audited financial
statements and related reports on internal control structure of all outside persons performing any of the
following for the Agency:
(i)

investing public funds of the Agency;

(ii)

advising on the investment of public funds of the Agency;

(iii)

directing the deposit or investment of public funds of the Agency; or

(iv)

acting in a fiduciary capacity for the Agency.

A bank, savings and loan association or credit union providing only depository services shall not
be required to provide an audited financial statement and related report on its internal control structure.
Objectives
The primary objectives, in order of priority, of all investment activities involving the financial
assets of the Agency shall be the following:
91

(i)
Safety:
foremost investment objective;

Safety and preservation of principal in the overall portfolio is the

(ii)
Liquidity:
Maintaining the necessary liquidity to match expected liabilities
and expenses is the second investment objective;
(iii)

Return:

Obtaining a reasonable return is a third investment

objective
Operative Policy
The Agency shall conduct its investment activities involving all operating funds, bond proceeds
and other funds and all investment transactions involving operating funds, bond proceeds and other
funds accounted for in the financial statements of the Agency in a manner that complies with the
General Municipal Law and the Public Authorities Law of New York State.
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Prior to making an investment of any operating funds, bond proceeds and other funds of the
Agency, other than those associated with a bank, savings and loan association or credit union involving
a depository relationship only, the Agency shall obtain at least three (3) bids and award the contract to
the most responsible bidder whose bid most closely meets the objectives of this Investment Policy.
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The Executive Director/Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer and all officers and employees of
the Agency involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business activity that could
conflict with the proper execution of the investment program, or which could impair their ability to
make impartial investment decisions. Nothing contained within this Policy however, shall prohibit the
Executive Director/Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer, or any other officer or member of the Board,
or employee of the Agency from obtaining interests in mutual funds which may include within its
investment portfolio, bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness of the Agency;
provided however, that the Agency’s bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness may
not make up more than ten percent (10%) of the mutual fund’s total portfolio and the Executive
Director/Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer, other officers or Board Members, or employees may not
exercise any discretion with respect to the investments made by the mutual fund company.
The Executive Director/Chief Financial Officer shall submit to the Board an investment report
that summarizes recent market conditions and investment strategies employed since the last investment
report. The report shall set out the current portfolio in terms of maturity, rates of return and other
features and summarize all investment transactions that have occurred during the reporting period and
compare the investment results with budgetary expectations, if any.
Investments
Permitted Investments.
The Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer and/or Controller are authorized to invest funds
not required for immediate expenditure in the following investments permitted under Section 11 of the
General Municipal Law:
1.
Special time deposit accounts in, or certificates of deposit issued by any
commercial bank or trust company that is located in and authorized to do business in New York State,
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provided that such deposit account or certificate of deposit is secured in the same manner as provided
below for collateralization of deposits and is payable within such time as the proceeds shall be needed to
meet expenditures for which the funds were obtained;
2.

Obligations of the United States of America;

3.
Obligations guaranteed by agencies of the United States of America where the
payment of principal and interest are guaranteed by the United States of America;
4.
5.
Municipal Law.

Obligations of the State of New York; and
Such other obligations as may be permitted under Section 11 of the General
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All investments as provided in (2) through (5) above shall be payable or redeemable at
the option of the Agency within such times as the proceeds will be needed to meet expenditures for
purposes for which the moneys were provided and, in the case of obligations purchased with the
proceeds of bonds or notes, shall be payable or redeemable at the option of the Agency within two years
of the date of purchase, and comply with such other requirements as set forth in Section 11 of the
General Municipal Law.
Deposits

Designation of Depositories.
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The Agency shall, by resolution, designate one or more commercial banks or trust
companies for the deposit of Agency funds received by the Agency. Such resolution shall specify the
maximum amount that may be kept on deposit at any time with each bank or trust company. Such
designations and amounts may be changed at any time by further resolution of the Agency.

Collateralization of Deposits.

In accordance with Section 10 of the General Municipal Law, all deposits of the Agency
(including certificates of deposit and special time deposits) in excess of the amount insured under the
provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act shall be secured as follows:
1.
By a pledge of “eligible securities” with an aggregate “market value” as defined
by Section 10 of the General Municipal Law, at least equal to the aggregate amount of deposits. A list
of eligible securities is attached hereto as Schedule A.
2.
By an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a qualified bank (other than the bank
with which the money is being deposited or invested) in favor of the Agency for a term not to exceed
ninety (90) days with an aggregate value equal to 140% of the aggregate amount of deposits and the
agreed upon interest, if any. A qualified bank is one whose commercial paper and other unsecured
short-term debt obligations are rated in one of the three highest rating categories by at least one
nationally recognized statistical rating organization or by a bank that is in compliance with applicable
minimum risk-based capital requirements.
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3.
By an eligible surety bond payable to the Agency for an amount at least equal to
100% of the aggregate amount of deposits and the agreed upon interest, if any, executed by an insurance
company authorized to do business in New York State, whose claims-paying ability is rated in the
highest rating category by at least two nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The terms
and conditions of any eligible surety bond shall be subject to Agency Board approval.
Safekeeping and Collateralization.
Eligible securities used for collateralizing deposits shall be held by the depository and/or
third party bank or trust company subject to security and custodial agreements as described below.
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1.
Security Agreement Requirements. The security agreement shall provide that
eligible securities are being pledged to secure Agency deposits together with agreed upon interest, if
any, and any costs or expenses arising out of the collection of such deposits upon default. It shall also
provide the conditions under which the securities may be sold, presented for payment, substituted or
released and the events which will enable the Agency to exercise its rights against the pledged securities.
In the event that the securities are not registered or inscribed in the name of the Agency, such securities
shall be delivered in a form suitable for transfer or with an assignment in blank to the depository or its
custodial bank.
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2.
Custodial Agreement Requirements. The custodial agreement shall provide that
securities held by the bank or trust company, as agent of and custodian for the Agency, will be kept
separate and apart from the general assets of the custodial bank or trust company and will not, in any
circumstances, be commingled with or become part of the backing for any other deposit or other
liabilities. The custodial agreement should also describe that the custodian shall confirm the receipt,
substitution or release of the securities. The custodial agreement shall provide for the frequency of
revaluation of eligible securities and for the substitution of securities when a change in the rating of a
security may cause ineligibility. Such agreement shall include all provisions necessary to provide the
Agency a perfected interest in the securities and may include such other terms as the Agency Board
deems necessary.

SCHEDULE A
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Obligations issued by the United States of America, an agency thereof or a United States government
sponsored corporation or obligations fully insured or guaranteed as to the payment of principal and
interest by the United States of America, an agency thereof or a United States government sponsored
corporation.
Obligations issued or fully guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development,
the Inter-American Development Bank, the Asian Development Bank and the African Development
Bank.
Obligations partially insured or guaranteed by any agency of the United States of America, at a
proportion of the Market Value of the obligation that represents the amount of the insurance or guaranty.
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Obligations issued or fully insured or guaranteed by the State of New York, obligations issued by a
municipal corporation, school district or district corporation or such State or obligations of any public
benefit corporation which under a specific State statute may be accepted as security for deposit of public
moneys.
Obligations issued by states (other than the State of New York) of the United States rated in one of the
three highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization.
Obligations of Puerto Rico rated in one of the three highest rating categories by at least one nationally
recognized statistical rating organization.
Obligations of counties, cities and other governmental entities of another state having the power to levy
taxes that are backed by the full faith and credit of such governmental entity and rated in one of the three
highest categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization.
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Obligations of domestic corporations rated one of the two highest rating categories by at least one
nationally recognized statistical rating organization.
Any mortgage related securities, as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which
may be purchased by banks under the limitations established by bank regulatory agencies.
Commercial paper and bankers’ acceptances issued by a bank (other than the bank with which the
money is being deposited or invested), rated in the highest short term category by at least one nationally
recognized statistical rating organization and having maturities of not longer than sixty days from the
date they are pledged.
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Zero Coupon obligations of the United States government marketed as “Treasury STRIPS.”
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NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Financial Controls Policy
1. BACKGROUND:
Section 2800(1)(a)(9) and Section 2800(2)(a)(8) of Public Authorities Law require all public authorities to
complete an annual assessment of the effectiveness of their internal control structures and procedures.
2. INTENT:
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The purpose of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency’s (IDA) system of internal control shall be
to:
a) Promote effective and efficient operations so as to help the IDA in carrying out its mission.
b) Provide reasonable assurance that the IDA’s assets are safeguarded against inappropriate or unauthorized
use.
c) Promote the accuracy and reliability of accounting data and financial reporting to ensure that transactions
are executed in accordance with the IDA Board’s authorization and that they are recorded properly in
accounting records.
d) Encourage adherence to the IDA Board’s policies and procedures for conducting programs and operations.
e) Ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
This system of internal control includes performing an annual assessment to identify potential weaknesses in
policies or procedures and to implement corrective actions.
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This assessment shall identify significant weaknesses in controls, recognize emerging or inherent risks, and
enable early detection of existing or potential problems. If an internal control system is working effectively,
the IDA Board will have a reasonable indication of the reliability of its operating practices and the accuracy
of the information it uses to measure its activities and performance. Any deficiencies identified as a result of
the assessment shall be addressed by the IDA Board.
3. IDA’S INTERNAL CONTROLS ASSESSMENT PLAN:
A. Define the IDA’s Primary Functions:
1. Annually review the mission of the IDA and verify that its primary operating responsibilities, operations
and functions will help fulfill its mission.
2. Annually evaluate the IDA’s written mission statement to ensure that it clearly defines the IDA’s purpose.
3. Define the IDA’s objectives and ensure they are understood by IDA staff.
4. Review policies, procedures and guidelines to ensure that they guide IDA staff in the operations of the
IDA and provide methods and procedures to assess the effectiveness of those functions.
B. Determine Risks:
1. Assess the internal and external risk exposure and associated vulnerability of each function of the IDA and
assign a corresponding risk level (i.e., high, medium, or low).
2. If a risk is identified, the IDA Board shall determine how to best handle it by evaluating its significance,
likelihood, and cause.
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3. Based on the assigned risk levels, the IDA Board shall determine how frequently it will review the
controls in place for each function.
C. Review Existing Internal Control Systems in Place:
1. The IDA Board and staff shall annually review and examine the policies and practices in place to ensure
that those policies and practices are effective in addressing the risks that are relevant to the operation.
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D. Assess the Extent to Which the Internal Control System is Effective:
1. The assessment of internal controls should be a structured and monitored process to identify and to report
any weaknesses of the internal control structure to the IDA Board.
2. This process should determine if the existing control structure and procedures are adequate, to mitigate
risk, minimize ineffectiveness and deter opportunities that could lead to the misappropriation of assets.
3. The assessment should provide the IDA Board with information as to whether the IDA’s policies and
operating practices were understood and were executed properly, and whether they are adequate to protect
the organization from waste, abuse, misconduct, or inefficiency.
4. This assessment shall be completed through a combination of inquiry and observation, a review of
documents and records and by replicating transactions to test the sufficiency of the control system.
E. Take Corrective Action:
1. When a weakness is identified, a corrective action plan should be developed, adopted by the IDA Board
and then monitored by the IDA Board to ensure that the weakness is addressed.
4. INTERNAL CONTROL CERTIFICATION:
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A. Section 2800(2)(a)(8) of the Public Authorities Law:
1. To satisfy the requirement of Section 2800(2)(a)(8) of Public Authorities Law, the IDA shall incorporate,
either within its annual report or as a separate document, a statement explaining that the authority has
conducted a formal, documented process to assess the effectiveness of its internal control structure and
procedures, and indicate whether or not the internal controls are adequate.
2. This statement should eventually be posted to the IDA’s website.
3. The statement shall state the following or equivalent:
The IDA Board of Directors has documented and assessed the New Rochelle Industrial Development
Agency’s Internal Financial Control System for the year ending December 31, 20__ and found the
Agency’s internal controls to be adequate. No deficiencies were found.
4. The IDA shall retain documentation to support the assessment of its internal controls.
5. If the IDA finds any deficiencies with the internal controls over its functions or operations, additional
documentation should be maintained to demonstrate that the IDA has adopted corrective action plans to
address these weaknesses.
6. This documentation should be made available upon request to the IDA’s independent auditor or to ABO
compliance review staff.
B. Public Authorities Reporting Information System (PARIS):
1. As part of the PARIS Annual Report tab, the IDA will be required to indicate whether or not it has
prepared this assessment and will provide the URL link to the statement, if available.
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NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITION POLICY
I.

INTRODUCTION
Pursuant to Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, the New Rochelle
Industrial Development Agency’s (the “Agency”) purposes and mission is to undertake
projects and to develop strategies to advance job opportunities, health, recreational
opportunities, general prosperity and the economic welfare of the people of the City of
New Rochelle. In furtherance of these purposes, the Agency has the power to acquire,
including by lease, purchase, grant, gift and condemnation, and to use such real property,
rights or easements necessary for its Agency purposes. This policy shall apply to any
acquisitions of real property by the Agency.

II.

GENERAL
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A.
All acquisitions of real property shall comply with applicable State,
federal and local law, including but not limited to Chapter 766 of the Laws of New York
2005, better known as the Public Authorities Accountability Act (“PAAA”), the State
Environmental Quality Review Act (“SEQRA”), the Eminent Domain Procedure Law
(“EDPL”), any requirements of the Agency’s bond resolutions, and any other applicable
state and local law or regulation.
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B.
The Executive Director is hereby authorized to negotiate the terms and
conditions of the acquisition of real property necessary to accomplish the Agency’s
purposes and consistent with this policy. The Agency may acquire in the name of the
Agency by purchase or condemnation, gift or grant, real property or rights therein,
including by lease, license and easement, on terms necessary or convenient in furtherance
of its purposes.
C.
The Agency shall maintain a record for each transaction that documents its
compliance with this policy.
D.
The Agency shall maintain a system of inventory for all real property
under its control.
E.
The Agency shall procure any outside professional services, such as title
insurance and commercial real estate brokerage services, pursuant to the Agency’s
Procurement Policy.
III.

IMPLEMENTATION
A.
purposes.

The Executive Director shall identify parcels necessary for Agency’s
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B.
Once potentially acceptable parcels have been identified, those parcels
shall be evaluated internally under the direction of the Executive Director of the Agency.
When necessary or convenient, the Executive Director may seek participation from
Agency staff, real estate counsel, engineering, environmental, archeological, and other
consultants, title insurance company and a licensed commercial real estate broker or
brokers. Any evaluation of the affected parcel shall examine such issues as, but not
limited to: ownership; zoning; road access, including access to interstates; easements and
other encumbrances; parcel history; recent sales history; proximity to environmentally
compromised areas; potential government funding sources for parcel remediation or
developments; market availability; recent appraisals; brokerage arrangements; and
existing tenants and the terms and conditions of their leases.
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C.
Prior to contract for the acquisition of real property, the Agency shall
obtain two (2) appraisals by Members of the Appraisal Institute (“AMI”) or other
reasonable and professionally prepared valuation projections consistent with then-current
industry standards and practices. If the appraisals are materially different, the Agency
may attempt to reconcile the differences in value through determining an average of the
two appraisals, or by seeking a third review appraisal which shall constitute the final
determination of value. The contract price for acquiring real property is subject to the
approval of the Agency Board, in its sole discretion.
D.
The Agency may enter into a contract to obtain the right to enter onto real
property being considered for acquisition for the purposes of conducting archeological,
environmental, geotechnical and any other relevant studies and investigations of such
property, either separately or as part of a contract for acquisition of such property.

IV.
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E.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Policy, no contract for the
acquisition of real property shall be binding on the Agency until first approved by the
Board of the Agency.
EMINENT DOMAIN

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Agency finds and determines that it is
necessary in the furtherance of its public purpose, and that other efforts to acquire
particular properties have proven ineffective, then the Agency may proceed pursuant to
the Eminent Domain Procedure Law (“EDPL”), as authorized by Article 18-A of the
General Municipal Law.
V.

EXEMPTION FOR CERTAIN AGENCY TRANSACTIONS
This Policy shall not be applicable to any agreements or arrangements involving the
provision by the Agency of “financial assistance” as such term is defined in Section
854(14) of the New York General Municipal Law (i.e. property acquisitions serving
solely as a conduit for providing financial assistance).
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NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
DEFENSE AND INDEMNIFICATION POLICY
A.

Preamble
In accordance with Section 2824 of the Public Authorities Law, the New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) is required adopt
written policies and procedures on defense and indemnification.

B. Defense and Indemnification Policy
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Pursuant to Article VIII of the By-Laws of the New Rochelle Industrial
Development Agency (the “Agency”), the Agency shall indemnify all
members of the Board of the Agency and each officer and employee
thereof, in the performance of their duties, and to the extent authorized by
the Board, each other person authorized to act for the Agency or on its
behalf, to the full extent to which indemnification is permitted under the
General Municipal Law of the State of New York.

11888086-v1
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NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
TRAVEL POLICY & DISCRETIONARY FUNDS POLICY
A.

Preamble

B. Travel Policy
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The purpose of this policy is to implement a provision of the Public Authorities Accountability Act
requiring the adoption of certain policies and to adhere to the recommended practices of the NYS
Authorities Budget Office (the “ABO”) to protect against the use of discretionary funds for purposes
that do not advance the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency’s (the “Agency”) mission and
public purposes. Public Authorities Law §2824 requires the Agency to adopt a policy to govern
business travel and the ABO, by and through its Recommended Practice entitled Written Policies
Governing the Use of Authority Discretionary Funds (November 2012), recommends adoption by local
authorities a policy on the proper use of discretionary funds that incorporates the legal principals set
forth in NYS Attorney General in opinion #2007-F4.

Pre-Approval Required — All official travel for which a reimbursement will be
sought must be approved by the Executive Director prior to such travel; provided,
however, in the instance where the Executive Director will seek reimbursement for
official travel, such travel must be pre-authorized by the Chair of the Agency.
Applications for pre-approval shall include all anticipated expenses, by category,
including inter-city travel, local transportation in and around the destination city,
lodging, meals, and miscellaneous expenses, together with the estimated costs of
same.

2.

Reimbursement — The Agency will reimburse all reasonable expenses related to
travel, meals and lodging that were incurred by any member, officer or employee
as a result of the performance of his or her official duties. All official travel shall
be properly authorized, reported and reimbursed. It is the traveler’s responsibility
to report his or her travel expenses accurately in a responsible and ethical manner,
in accordance with this Policy.

3.

Expenses Eligible for Reimbursement — Travelers will be reimbursed at cost for
authorized travel by common carrier, provided that such travel is purchased at the
lowest rate reasonably available for the applicable mode of transportation at the
time of booking. Travel by “coach” class, “economy” class, or similar standard
basic designation shall be presumed to constitute the lowest available rate. Car
rental will be reimbursed at cost if pre-authorized as reasonably anticipated to be
less expensive than common carrier and/or taxi or car service, or if alternative
means of transportation would be impracticable. Travelers may use their private
vehicle for business purposes if it is less expensive than renting a car, taking a taxi,
or using alternative transportation, or if it saves significant time. The traveler will
be reimbursed at the standard mileage reimbursement rate established by the
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1.
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Internal Revenue Service for Federal tax purposes. Travelers will be reimbursed
for reasonable parking charges incurred in connection with authorized official
travel
in
rental
cars,
City
cars,
or
their
own
vehicles.
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Meals will be reimbursed at actual expense, up to a maximum to be established
annually by the Agency board. In the event that the board shall fail to make such
annual determinations, the maximums shall be deemed to adjust annually in
accordance with changes in the Consumer Price Index.
The maximum
reimbursable meal expense for the next ensuing calendar year are annexed hereto
as Schedule A. Lodging will be reimbursed at actual expense, not to exceed the
prevailing cost of standard business class accommodations in the area.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of attendance at conferences,
conventions, group meetings and similar events, the Executive Director or the
Chair shall have the discretion to approve the reimbursement of lodging and
related meal charges at the hotel or conference center hosting the event. Further,
the applicability of any of the foregoing restrictions may be waived by the
Treasurer on a case by case basis in the event that lodging and/or meals are not
reasonably available at the travel site within the approved cost limits, or in
consideration of other extenuating circumstances.
Reimbursement for miscellaneous expenses shall be determined on a case by case
basis.
Under no circumstances shall expenses for personal travel be charged to, or
temporarily funded by the Agency.

Use of Discretionary Funds
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C. Discretionary Funds Policy

The expenditure of Agency funds must relate directly to an enumerated power, duty or purpose
of the Agency. Therefore, the use of discretionary funds shall be limited to expenditures that directly
benefit the Agency in advancing its mission and public purposes. Discretionary funds shall not be used
in a manner that primarily benefits an individual board member, officer or employee.

B.

Prior Approval

All expenditures of discretionary funds shall be approved by the Executive Director prior to
such expenditure. Provided, however, in the instance where the Executive Director will seek an
expenditure of discretionary funds, such expenditure shall be pre-authorized by the Chair of the Agency.
The Executive Director or the Chair, as the case may be, shall review the proposed use of funds and
reasonably determine whether such use (i) primarily benefits the Agency as opposed to an individual
board member, officer or employee and (ii) directly advances the mission and public purpose of the
Corporation.
2
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C.

Appropriate Expenditure Guidance

(i) Membership Dues – Membership dues paid for the Agency to belong to a professional peer
organization is a permissible use of Agency funds. However, individual membership costs for board
members, officers and employees to belong to a professional, social or fraternal organization whereby
the membership is of and the primary benefit is to, the individual rather than the Corporation, should not
be an Agency expenditure.
(ii) Charitable Contributions & Sponsorships – The appropriateness of such sponsorship or
charitable contribution will depend on whether it directly relates to the powers, duty and purposes of the
Agency, and whether such expenditure will directly advance the Agency’s core mission and public
purposes. Generally improving community goodwill or the well-being of the community that is
unrelated to the Agency’s mission should not be considered an appropriate use of Agency discretionary
funds.
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(iii) Celebrations – Expenditures related to special occasion celebrations for current or former
board members, officers or staff and their family members, such as holiday or retirement parties should
not be considered an appropriate use of Agency discretionary funds.
(iv) Gifts – Gifts such as flowers, cards or other items given to board members, officer,
employees or their family members in recognition of a milestone, special occasion, an expression of
sympathy or other reason should not be considered an appropriate use of Agency discretionary funds.
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(v) Food & Beverages – With the exception of food and beverages purchased during business
travel as provided herein, expenditures of food and beverages for the personal consumption of board
members, officers and employees should not be considered an appropriate use of Agency discretionary
funds. Provided, however, expenditures for food and beverages purchased for or during the conduct of
Agency business with persons that do business with the Agency may be an appropriate expenditure of
Agency discretionary funds, provided that the expense is reasonable in light of the circumstances
surrounding the Agency activity and is pre-approved as set forth herein.
(vi) Professional Training, Certification and Licensing - It is the individual board member’s,
officer’s or employee’s responsibility to maintain good standing with licensing requirements and as
such, it would not be an appropriate Agency expenditure to pay for the cost to obtain or renew an
individual’s license. Provided, however, paying the costs to attend training to maintain certifications or
licenses, or to attend professional conferences may be an appropriate expenditure of Agency
discretionary funds.
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SCHEDUULE A
Meal Reimbursement Maximums
Metropolitan New York City Area (including Westchester County and Long Island)
Breakfast
Lunch
Dinner

$12 per person
$25 per person
$45 per person

Upstate New York
$8 per person
$20 per person
$35 per person

D

R

AF
T

Breakfast
Lunch
Dinner
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Property Disposition Guidelines
of the
New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
===============================================================
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The New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) is required by
Section 2896 of the Public Authorities Law to adopt by resolution comprehensive
guidelines regarding the use, awarding, monitoring and reporting of contracts for the
disposal of Property (as defined herein). The following guidelines (“Guidelines”) are
adopted upon approval by the Agency’s Board and are applicable with respect to the use,
awarding, monitoring and reporting of all Property Disposition Contracts which are
entered into by the Agency.

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

1.
“Contracting Officer” shall mean an officer or employee of the Agency
appointed by resolution of the Members of the Agency to be responsible for the
disposition of Property of the Agency.

R

2.
“Dispose” or “disposal” or “disposition” shall mean the transfer of title or
any other beneficial interest in Property from the Agency to any other party.

D

3.
“Property” shall mean personal property in excess of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000.00) in value, Real Property, or any other legally transferable interest in
such property, to the extent that such interest may by conveyed to another person for any
purpose, excluding an interest securing a loan or other financial obligation of another
party.
4.
“Property Disposition Contracts” shall mean written agreements for the
sale, lease, transfer or other disposition of Property from the Agency to any other party.
5.

“Real Property” shall mean real property and interests therein.

ARTICLE II
APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF CONTRACTING OFFICER
A.

Appointment
The Contracting Officer shall be an officer or employee of Agency appointed by
1
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the Members of the Agency who is responsible for the supervision and direction over the
custody, control and disposition of Property and responsible for Agency compliance with
and enforcement of these Guidelines.
B.

Duties
The duties of the Contracting Officer shall include the following:

1.
Maintaining adequate inventory controls and accountability systems for all
Property under the control of the Agency.
2.
Periodically conducting an inventory of Property to determine which
Property may be disposed of.
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3.
Preparing an annual written report of all Property of the Agency. Each
report shall include a list of all Real Property, a full description of all real and personal
property disposed of during the reporting period, the price received and the name of the
purchaser for all Property sold during each reporting period. Each report shall be
completed and delivered to the New York State Comptroller, the Director of the Budget,
the Commissioner of General Services and the New York State Legislature no later than
ninety (90) days following the completion of the fiscal year of the Agency. This report is
included within and distributed with the Annual Report of the Agency.
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4.
Disposing of Property as promptly as possible in accordance with these
Guidelines, as directed by the Agency.

A.
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ARTICLE III
PROPERTY DISPOSITION REQUIREMENTS
Method of Disposition

Subject to such exceptions and/or requirements set forth in these Guidelines, in the
event that the Agency determines to dispose of any of its Property, the Agency shall
endeavor to dispose of such Property for at least the fair market value of the Property.
The disposition of Property may be made by sale, exchange, or transfer, for cash, credit
or other Property, with or without warranty, and upon such terms and conditions as are
determined by the Agency to be appropriate and reasonable and consistent with these
Guidelines. Provided, however, no disposition of real property shall be made unless an
appraisal of the value of such property has been made by an independent appraiser and
included in the record of the transaction. In addition, no disposition of personal property
shall be made without an appraisal where because of its unique nature or circumstances,
the personal property is not readily valued by reference to an active market for similar
property.
B.

Award and Approval of Property Disposition Contracts
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1.
Compliance with Guidelines; Approval Requirements. All dispositions of
Property shall be conducted in accordance with these Guidelines by or under the
supervision of the Contracting Officer, subject to approval of the Members of the
Agency.
2.

Disposition by Public Bid.

(a)
All Property Disposition Contracts may be made only after
publicly advertising for bids, unless the criteria set forth in Article III(B)(3) below has
been satisfied for such contracts to be made by negotiation or public auction.
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(b)
Whenever public advertising for bids is required, (i) the
advertisement for bids shall be made at such time prior to the disposal or contract,
through such methods, and on such terms and conditions, as shall permit full and free
competition consistent with the value and nature of the Property; (ii) all bids shall be
publicly disclosed at the time and place stated in the advertisement; and (iii) the award
shall be made with reasonable promptness by notice to the responsible bidder whose bid,
conforming to the invitation for bids, will be most advantageous to the Agency and New
York State, price and other factors considered.
(c)
Any public bid for the disposition of Property may be rejected,
refused, or declined by the Agency on any basis or ground allowable at law.

R

3.
Disposition by Negotiated Sale/Public Auction.
The following
dispositions are exempt and excepted from the public bidding requirements set forth
above in Article III(B)(2) and may be consummated through a negotiated sale or by
public auction:

D

(a)
The basis exists for a Below Fair Market Value disposition. The
Agency may dispose of Property for less than the fair market value of the Property
where:
(i)

Transferee is a government or public entity and terms of
transfer require ownership and use to remain with the
government or public entity; or

(ii)

Purpose of transfer is within the purpose, mission or statue
of the Agency; or

(iii)

Written notification to the Governor, Speaker, and
Temporary President. Such notification is subject to denial.
Denial by Governor is in the form of a certification. Denial
by the legislature is in the form of a resolution. Denial
must be made within 60 days of receiving notification
during January through June. Provided no denial, then
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authority may effectuate transfer. If legislature receives the
notification in July through December, then legislature may
take 60 days from January 1 of the following year.
However, a local may obtain local approval from the chief
executive and legislature of the political subdivision in lieu
of the notification to the Governor, Speaker and Temporary
President provided the local authority’s enabling legislation
provides for such approval and the property was obtained
by the authority from the political subdivision.
If a below FMV transfer is proposed, the following information is required
to be provided to the Agency board and to the public:
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(1) Description of Asset;
(2) Appraisal of the FMV of the asset:
(3) Description of the purpose of the transfer, the kind and amount
of the benefit to the public resulting from the transfer such as jobs and wages
created or preserved;
(4) Value received compared to FMV;
(5) Names of private parties to the transaction and value received;
(6) Names of private parties that have made an offer, the value of
offer, and purpose for which the asset would have been used.

R

The board of the Agency must make a written determination that there is no
reasonable alternative to the proposed below-market transfer that would achieve the
same purpose of such transfer.

D

(b)
Disposition of Certain Personal Property. The Agency may
dispose of personal property where such personal property involved has qualities
separate from the utilitarian purpose of such property, such as artistic quality, antiquity,
historical significance, rarity or other quality of similar effect, that would tend to
increase its value, or if the personal property is to be sold in such quantity that, if it were
to be disposed of through public advertisement and bidding, would adversely affect the
state or local market for such personal property.
(c)
Disposition of Low FMV Property. The Agency may dispose of
Property where the fair market value of which does not exceed Fifteen Thousand Dollars
($15,000.00).
(d)
Disposition Following Receipt of Unacceptable Bid Prices. The
Agency may dispose of Property where the bid prices received by the Agency after
public advertising are not commercially reasonable (either as to all or some part of the
Property) as determined by the Agency in its sole discretion.
(e)
Disposition to a Political Subdivision.
The Agency may
dispose of Property to New York State or any political subdivision of New York State.
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(f)
Disposition Authorized by Law.
The Agency may dispose of
Property where such disposition is otherwise authorized by law.
4.

Reporting Requirements Regarding Negotiated Dispositions.

(a)
Preparation of Written Statements. The Contracting Officer shall
prepare a written statement explaining the circumstances of each negotiated disposition
of Property involving any of the following:
the negotiated disposition of personal property which has
an estimated fair market value in excess of Fifteen
Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00);

(ii)

the negotiated disposition of Real Property that has an
estimated fair market value in excess of One Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00);
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(i)

the negotiated disposition of Real Property that will be
disposed of by lease if the estimated annual rent over the
term of the lease is in excess of $15,000; or

(iv)

the negotiated disposition of Real Property or real and
related personal property where the same will be disposed
of by exchange, regardless of value, or any Property any
part of the consideration for which is Real Property.

R

(iii)

D

(b)
Submission of Written Statements. Written statements prepared
pursuant to Article III(B)(4) shall be submitted to the New York State Comptroller, the
Director of the Budget, the Commissioner of General Services and the State Legislature
no later than ninety (90) days prior to the date on which the disposition of Property is
expected to take place. The Contracting Officer shall maintain a copy of all written
statements at the Agency’s principal office.

ARTICLE IV
GENERAL PROVISIONS
A.

Annual Review and Submission of Guidelines

These Guidelines shall be annually reviewed and approved by the Members of the
Agency. On or before the 31st day of March of each year, the Contracting Officer shall
file a copy of the most recently reviewed and adopted Guidelines with the New York
State Comptroller, and shall post the Guidelines on the Agency’s website. Guidelines
posted on the Agency’s website shall be maintained at least until the Guidelines for the
following year are posted on the website.
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B.

Effect of Awarded Contracts

These Guidelines are intended for the guidance of the officers, members, directors
and employees of the Agency. Nothing contained herein is intended or shall be construed
to confer upon any person, firm or corporation any right, remedy, claim or benefit under,
or by reason of, any requirement or provision hereof, or be deemed to alter, affect the
validity of, modify the terms of or impair any contract or agreement made or entered into
in violation of, or without compliance with, these Guidelines. Without limiting the
generality of the preceding sentence, any deed, bill of sale, lease, or other instrument
executed by or on behalf of the Agency, purporting to transfer title or any other interest in
Property shall be conclusive evidence of compliance with these Guidelines insofar as
concerns title or other interest of any bona fide grantee or transferee who has given
valuable consideration for such title or other interest and has not received actual or
constructive notice of lack of compliance with these Guidelines prior to the closing.
Exemption for Certain Agency Transactions
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C.
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These Guidelines shall not be applicable to any agreements or arrangements
involving the provision by the Agency of “financial assistance” as such term is defined in
Section 854(14) of the New York General Municipal Law (i.e. property dispositions
serving solely as a conduit for providing financial assistance).
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NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
COMPENSATION, REIMBURSEMENT AND ATTENDANCE POLICY
A.

Preamble
In accordance with Section 2824 of the Public Authorities Law, the New Rochelle
Corporation Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) is required adopt
written policies and procedures on salary, compensation and reimbursements to,
and establish rules for the time and attendance of, the chief executive and senior
management.
Compensation Policy
1.

A preliminary budget for employee compensation, including base compensation
and any recommended salary adjustments, together with fringe benefits and COLA
shall be proposed annually by the Audit Committee. Base Compensation and
salary adjustments shall be proposed after taking into consideration the existing
compensation ranges and fringe benefits programs and appropriate economic,
geographic, and competitive salary ranges and fringe benefits for comparable
position in the region and with respect the New York State’s local development
corporations and IDAs in particular. The Audit Committee will also consider the
education and experience of the individual, the Agency’s budget constraints, and
other appropriate discretionary factors in establishing the individual base
compensation will be considered.

2.

The Audit Committee will then submit the proposed preliminary budget for the
employee and executive compensation to the Board for its review and approval.
The Agency Board shall then approve the budget for employee compensation with
any modifications that they deem necessary at the annual meeting.

D
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B.

Alternate Compensation by the City
1.

Notwithstanding the procedures set forth in Section B above, whenever the
services of an employee are provided by the City of New Rochelle (the “City”)
pursuant to a written agreement between the City and the Agency for the provision
of services by the City to the Agency under such circumstances as the employee is
considered to be an employee of the Agency, or the agreement provides that such
employee shall be compensated directly by the Agency, such employee shall be
compensated as a City employee holding the employment grade most closely
analogous to the employment position held by such person with the Agency, as
determined by the City under such contract.
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2.

Reimbursement Policy
Travel Expenses — Reimbursement for travel-related expenses shall be governed
by the Agency’s Travel Policy.

2.

Reimbursement of Other Expenses — The Agency will reimburse all reasonable
expenses incurred by a member, an officer or an employee of the Agency in the
performance of his or her duties and responsibilities as such, or by a City employee
performing services on behalf of the Agency or representing the Agency pursuant
to a written agreement between the City and the Agency, subject to the following
rules and procedures:

AF
T

1.



All reimbursable expenses shall be fully documented.



All purchases to be reimbursed must be in compliance with the Agency’s
Procurement Policy. Whenever practicable, purchases shall be made by
the Agency in accordance with the procedures contained in the
Procurement Policy.



All reimbursements shall be approved by the Executive Director, except
that reimbursements to the Executive Director shall be approved by the
Chairman or by the Treasurer.



Under no circumstances shall personal expenses be charged to, or
temporarily funded by the Agency.

E.

D

R

D.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, whenever the services of an employee are provided
by the City pursuant to a written agreement between the City and the Agency for
the provision of services by the City to the Agency under such circumstances as
the employee is not considered to be an employee of the Agency and the
agreement does not provide that such employee shall be compensated directly by
the Agency, then such employee shall not be entitled to compensation by the
Agency but shall be compensated by the City as a City employee.

Attendance Policy

Each officer and employee of the Agency shall devote such time and attention to
the performance of his or her duties as may reasonably be required to discharge the
obligations of his or her office or employment, as described in the By-Laws of the
Agency or in such person’s terms of employment. In the case of the Executive
Director and other employees, it is expected that such functions will generally be
performed at the offices of the Agency, except where the business of the Agency
requires such person to be elsewhere.

2
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), held
at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day of March, 2021, the
following members of the Agency were:
Present:
Absent:
Recused:
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Also Present:
After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to the
appointment of officers of the Agency.
The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:
Voting Nay

D

R

Voting Aye
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RESOLUTION OF THE NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY REGARDING THE
APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS
WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of
New York, as amended, and Chapter 785 of the Laws of 1976 of the State of New York, as
amended (collectively, the "Act"), the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the
"Agency") was created with the authority and power, among other things, to promote, develop,
encourage and assist in the acquisition, construction, improvement, maintenance, equipping and
furnishing of certain industrial, manufacturing, warehousing, commercial, research, and
recreation facilities as authorized by the Act in order to promote and maintain the job
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the citizens of the City of New
Rochelle, New York and of the State of New York and to improve their standard of living; and
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WHEREAS, Article III of the By-Laws of the Agency provides that the Officers of the
Agency’s Board shall be a Chair, one (1) or more Vice Chairs, a Treasurer, a Secretary, and/or
such other officers as the Board shall in its discretion determine, including an Assistant Secretary
and an Assistant Treasurer, to be elected annually by the Board; and
WHEREAS, in accordance with the foregoing, the Agency has determined to appoint the
Members hereinafter set forth as Officers of the Board of Agency.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Agency as follows:

R

Section 1.
Pursuant to Article III of the By-Laws of the Agency, the Agency hereby
elects and appoints CHARLES B. STROME III, as Chair of the Agency, whose responsibilities
shall be as set forth in Section 7 of Article III of the By-Laws.

D

Section 2.
Pursuant to Article III of the By-Laws of the Agency, the Agency hereby
elects and appoints IVAR HYDEN, as Vice Chair of the Agency, whose responsibilities shall be
as set forth in Section 8 of Article III of the By-Laws.
Section 3.
Pursuant to Article III of the By-Laws of the Agency, the Agency hereby
elects and appoints ROBERT BALACHANDRAN, as Treasurer of the Agency, whose
responsibilities shall be as set forth in Section 9 of Article III of the By-Laws.
Section 4.
Pursuant to Article III of the By-Laws of the Agency, the Agency hereby
elects and appoints HOWARD GREENBERG, as Secretary of the Agency, whose
responsibilities shall be as set forth in the Section 11 of Article III of the By-Laws.
Section 5.
Pursuant to Article III of the By-Laws of the Agency, the Agency hereby
confirms and appoints KATHLEEN GILL, as Assistant Secretary of the Agency, whose
responsibilities shall be as set forth in the Section 12 of Article III of the By-Laws.
Section 6.
The foregoing Board Officers shall serve until the next Annual Meeting of
the Agency and until the election and qualification of their respective successors.
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Section 7.
Pursuant to Article V of the By-Laws of the Agency, the Agency hereby
elects and appoints the Deputy Commissioner of Economic Development of the City of New
Rochelle as Executive Director of the Agency, whose responsibilities shall be as set forth in the
Section 2 of Article V of the By-Laws. The Executive Director shall serve until the next Annual
Meeting and at no compensation. All acts heretofore taken by the Executive Director with
respect to such responsibilities as set forth in the By-Laws are hereby approved, ratified and
confirmed.
Section 8.
Pursuant to Article V of the By-Laws of the Agency, the Agency hereby
elects and appoints the Commissioner of Finance of the City of New Rochelle as Comptroller of
the Agency, whose responsibilities shall be as set forth in the Section 4 of Article V of the ByLaws. The Comptroller shall serve until the next Annual Meeting and at no compensation. All
acts heretofore taken by the Comptroller with respect to such responsibilities as set forth in the
By-Laws are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
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Section 9.
Pursuant to Article V of the By-Laws of the Agency, the Agency hereby
elects and appoints the Executive Director of the Agency as Compliance Officer of the Agency,
whose responsibilities shall be as set forth in the Section 5 of Article V of the By-Laws. The
Compliance Officer shall serve until the next Annual Meeting and at no compensation. All acts
heretofore taken by the Compliance Officer with respect to such responsibilities as set forth in
the By-Laws are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
Section 10. The Agency is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or appropriate
for the accomplishment of the purposes of this resolution, and all acts heretofore taken by the
Agency with respect to such activities are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.

R

This resolution shall take effect immediately.

[The Balance of This Page Intentionally Left Blank]

D

Section 11.
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency, DO
HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), including the resolutions contained
therein, held on the 24th day of March, 2021, with the original thereof on file in my office, and
that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such resolutions
set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to the subject
matters therein referred to.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting,
that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public
Officers Law ("Open Meetings Law") and pursuant to Governor Andrew Cuomo’s Executive
Orders (the "Executive Orders") authorizing the conduct of public meetings under the Open
Meetings Law through use of telephone conference, video conference and/or other similar
service, said meeting was open to the general public in accordance with the requirements of the
Executive Orders, and that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in
accordance with such Article 7.
I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present
throughout said meeting.

R

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolutions are in full
force and effect and have not been amended, repealed or modified.

D

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said
Agency this ______ day of March, 2021.

By:________________________________
Secretary
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Date: March 24, 2021
At a meeting of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), held
at City Hall, 515 North Avenue, New Rochelle, New York on the 24th day of March 2021, the
following members of the Agency were:
Present:
Absent:
Recused:
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Also Present:
After the meeting had been duly called to order, the Chair announced that among the
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to the
appointment of members of the Audit Committee, the Finance Committee and the Governance
Committee of the Agency.

R

The following resolution was duly moved, seconded, discussed and adopted with the
following members voting:
Voting Nay

D

Voting Aye

125

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW ROCHELLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
REGARDING THE APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE, THE
FINANCE COMMITTEE AND THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of
New York, as amended, and Chapter 785 of the Laws of 1976 of the State of New York, as
amended (collectively, the "Act"), the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the
"Agency") was created with the authority and power, among other things, to promote, develop,
encourage and assist in the acquisition, construction, improvement, maintenance, equipping and
furnishing of certain industrial, manufacturing, warehousing, commercial, research and
recreation facilities as authorized by the Act in order to promote and maintain the job
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the citizens of the City of New
Rochelle, New York and of the State of New York and to improve their standard of living; and
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WHEREAS, the New York State Legislature adopted the Public Authorities
Accountability Act of 2005, as amended (the "PAAA"), designed to ensure that New York’s
public authorities operate more efficiently, more openly, and with greater accountability; and
WHEREAS, the PAAA requires that the Agency create an Audit Committee, a Finance
Committee and a Governance Committee; and

R

WHEREAS, Article IV of the By-Laws of the Agency provides that the Agency shall
have an Audit Committee, a Governance Committee, and such other Committees as the Board
shall determine to be necessary and desirable, including a Finance Committee, to be elected
annually by the Board at the Agency’s Annual Meeting; and

D

WHEREAS, in accordance with the foregoing, and in order to fully comply with the
provisions of the PAAA, the Agency has determined to appoint the Members hereinafter set
forth as members of the Audit Committee, the Governance Committee and the Finance
Committee of Agency.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Agency as follows:
Section 1.

The Agency hereby finds and determines:

(a)
By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary and
convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise all
powers granted to it under the Act; and
(b)
Designating and appointing the members of the Audit Committee, the Finance
Committee and the Governance Committee will allow the Agency to continue to operate in
compliance with the Act and the provisions of the PAAA, and cause the Agency to operate more
efficiently, openly and with greater accountability to the residents of the City of New Rochelle.
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Section 2.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Agency hereby determines to
designate and appoint [Charles B. Strome, III, Ivar Hyden, Howard Greenberg, Jordanna Davis
Felim O’Malley and Amy Moselhi], as members of the Audit Committee, except the Treasurer.
Section 3.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Agency hereby determines to
designate and appoint [Charles B. Strome, III, Ivar Hyden, Howard Greenberg, Jordanna Davis
Felim O’Malley, Amy Moselhi and Robert Balachandran], as members of the Finance
Committee.
Section 4.
In consequence of the foregoing, the Agency hereby determines to
designate and appoint [Charles B. Strome, III, Ivar Hyden, Howard Greenberg, Jordanna Davis
Felim O’Malley, Amy Moselhi and Robert Balachandran] as members of the Governance
Committee.

Section 6.
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Section 5.
The Agency is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or appropriate
for the accomplishment of the purposes of this resolution, and all acts heretofore taken by the
Agency with respect to such activities are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
This resolution shall take effect immediately.

D

R

[The Balance of This Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

)
: SS.
)

I, the undersigned Secretary of the New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency, DO
HEREBY CERTIFY:
That I have compared the annexed extract of the minutes of the meeting of the New
Rochelle Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), including the resolutions contained
therein, held on the 24th day of March, 2021, with the original thereof on file in my office, and
that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such resolutions
set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to the subject
matters therein referred to.
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I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting,
that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public
Officers Law ("Open Meetings Law") and pursuant to Governor Andrew Cuomo’s Executive
Orders (the "Executive Orders") authorizing the conduct of public meetings under the Open
Meetings Law through use of telephone conference, video conference and/or other similar
service, said meeting was open to the general public in accordance with the requirements of the
Executive Orders, and that public notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in
accordance with such Article 7.
I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present
throughout said meeting.

R

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolutions are in full
force and effect and have not been amended, repealed or modified.

D

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said
Agency this 24th day of March, 2021.
.
By:________________________________
Secretary
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